Distributed Power Electronics for Second-Life Batteries

MSc in Energy Engineering - Power Electronics and Drives

Jorge Suarez Porras AAU Energy - June 3, 2022

Master's Thesis



Copyright \bigodot Aalborg University 2022

This report and its content are written in Overleaf, a collaborative IAT_EX -editor. Graphs and figures are all made specifically for this report.



A A L B O R G U N I V E R S I T Y

Title:

Distributed Power Electronics for Second-Life Batteries

Project Period: September 2021 - June 2022

Project Group: PED3 - 1043

Participant(s): Jorge Suárez Porras

Supervisor(s): Ariya Sangwongwanich Daniel-Ioan Stroe

Page Numbers: 82 (110) pages

Date of Completion: 3rd of June, 2022

Department of Energy Aalborg University http://www.energy.aau.dk

Abstract:

The use of battery storage systems (BESS) is widely considered for supporting the power grid. As the market for electric vehicles is growing rapidly, second-life batteries (SLBs) are becoming an attractive alternative for BESS. However, the use of SLBs has drawbacks due to the different state of health (SOH) and state of charge (SOC) of the batteries. In this work, different control methods for a cascaded H-bridge (CHB) topology for grid connection of second-life batteries are analyzed. By using a CHB topology, the possibilities of controlling the BESS are extended. Alternative switching techniques based on pulse width modulation (PWM) are shown and compared for multilevel inverters (MLI). Various battery energy management (BEMS) system strategies are proposed. Further, an active balancing technique is proposed to balance the state of energy (SOE) among the cells. The results show that the proposed strategies can be applied, extending and widening the battery control capabilities.

Acknowledgments

The work presented is a result of one year of work. The knowledge gained in the bachelor's and two years of learning in the Master of Science with specialization in Power Electronics and Drives at Aalborg University has been used in this project. The primary purpose of my whole studies is not anything other than helping the world become greener in terms of energy source, distribution and consumption. Therefore, I cannot be happier to have carried out this work in distributed power electronics for second-life batteries.

First, I would like to thank my supervisors, Ariya Sangwongwanich and Daniel-Ioan Stroe. Their many input has been crucial for finding good solutions in this year through all the problems we have been dealing with. Moreover, their advice and kind words have encouraged me to continue perfecting this work until the end.

Making this project has first taught me that each lecture I have been introduced to during my studies is worth it. Both the excitement and the boring ones have brought me here. But secondly, has taught me how little I know and that not knowing something cannot make me feel less valuable but encourage me to keep learning

Of course, lots of the lessons I have learned are not an only university related but life related. Moving to a new country for two years is not easy, but great colleagues have made it easy.

I would like to extend my gratitude to all the people who have helped me out, there are not enough pages to thank you all, to sum up: thank you all, friends and family.

Summary

Battery storage systems (BESS) are widely considered for supporting the power grid. However, different technologies exist to store energy, whereas this report is mainly focused on electrochemical batteries. In particular, as the market for electric vehicles (EVs) is growing, second-life batteries (SLBs) are becoming an attractive alternative for BESS.

Second-life battery is a term used to describe the batteries utilized in an EV. Still, due to degradation, it can no longer be used in the high-performance environment required by the EV. Nevertheless, these batteries still have around 70% of their original expected lifetime. However, the use of SLBs has drawbacks due to the batteries' different state of health (SOH) and state of charge (SOC).

This work analyses different control methods for a cascaded H-bridge (CHB) topology for grid connection of second-life batteries. Using a CHB topology, the possibilities of controlling the BESS are extended. Furthermore, alternative switching techniques based on pulse width modulation (PWM) are shown and compared for multilevel inverters (MLI).

Different battery energy management system (BEMS) strategies are proposed. Further, an active balancing technique is proposed to balance the state of energy (SOE) among the cells. The results show that the proposed strategies can be applied, extending and widening the battery control capabilities.

List of Abbreviations

Abbreviation:	Description:		
AAU	Aalborg University		
BESS	Battery Energy Storage System		
BEMS	Battery Energy Management System		
BOL	Beginning of Life		
CHB	Cascaded H-Bridge		
DG	Distributed Generation		
\mathbf{EV}	Electrical Vehicle		
EEC	Equivalent Electrical Circuit		
FFSOGI	Frequency-Fixed Second-Order Generalized Integrator		
EIS	Electrochemical Impedance Spectroscopy		
HPVBS	Hybrid PV Battery Systems		
IR	Internal Resistance		
OCV	Open-Circuit Voltage		
PEC	Power Electronic Converters		
PV	Photo-Voltaic		
PLL	Phase-Locked Loop		
PWM	Pulse Width Modulation		
RES	Renewable Energy Sources		
SLB	Second-Life Batteries		
SOC	State of Charge		
SOGI	Second-Order Generalized Integrator		

Abbreviation:	Description:			
SOH	State of Health			
SRF	Synchronous Reference Frame			
\mathbf{QSG}	Quadrature Signal Generator			
THD	Total Harmonic Distorsion			
WTHD	Weighted Total Harmonic Distorsion			

Nomenclature

Generic Variable Usage Conventions

Variable	Aspect	Meaning
F	CAPITALS	peak values
f	LOWER CASE	variable f instantaneous value
$ar{f}$	OVERBAR	variable f mean value
\hat{f}	DAGGER	variable f estimated value
f	BOLD LOWER CASE	vector
\mathbf{F}	BOLD UPPER CASE	matrix

Table of Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Problem Statement	2
2	Stat	te of Art	3
	2.1	Grid Connection of Battery Energy Storage Systems	3
	2.2	H-Bridge Topology	4
	2.3	Pulse Width Modulation Techniques	5
	2.4	Cascaded H-Bridge Converters	10
	2.5	PWM for Multilevel Inverters	12
		2.5.1 Phase-Shifted PWM	12
		2.5.2 Level-Shifted PWM	13
		2.5.3 Harmonic Distortion	15
	2.6	Energy Storage Systems	17
		2.6.1 Electrochemical Batteries	18
		2.6.1.1 Battery Model	20
		2.6.1.2 State of Charge Estimation	22
		2.6.1.3 Second-Life Batteries	24
		2.6.1.4 Second-Life Battery Model and Impedance Determination	25
3	\mathbf{Sys}	tem Description	28
	3.1	IGBT Module	29
	3.2	DC-Link Capacitor	29
	3.3	Output Filter Analysis	29
		3.3.1 Converter Side Inductance and Capacitor	30
		3.3.2 Grid Side Inductance	31
4	Con	ntrol of the Cascaded H-Bridge	33
	4.1	Control Scheme Description	33
		4.1.1 Current Control Loop and PLL	35
	4.2	Battery Energy Management System	40
		4.2.1 Active Balancing Technique	42
		4.2.2 System Downscale	45
		4.2.3 BEMS Strategies Proposed	46
		4.2.3.1 Strategy ED: Equal Distribution	46
		4.2.3.2 Strategy SOEB: SOE Balancing	48

			4.2.3.3	Strategy S	OES: SO	DE So	rting	ç	•	 	 		 	 	•		50
		4.2.4	Impedar	nce Determi	nation .	• • • •			•	 	 •••	• •	 	 	•	•	54
5	\mathbf{Exp}	erime	ntal Res	ults													57
	5.1	Curren	nt Contro	l Loop and	PLL					 	 		 	 	•		59
	5.2	Strate	gies Prop	osed - Passi	ve Load					 	 		 	 	•		61
		5.2.1	Strategy	ED					•	 	 		 	 	•		61
		5.2.2	Strategy	SOEB						 	 		 	 	•		62
		5.2.3	Strategy	SOES						 	 		 	 	•		64
	5.3	Strate	gies Prop	osed - Grid	connect	ion .				 	 		 	 	•		65
		5.3.1	Strategy	ED						 	 		 	 	•		66
		5.3.2	Strategy	SOEB						 	 		 	 	•		66
		5.3.3	Strategy	SOES						 	 		 	 			67
	5.4	Active	Balancin	ng Techniqu	e		• •		•	 	 •••	• •	 	 	•		68
6	Sun	nmary	and Cor	nclusion													70
7	Fut	ure Wo	ork														72
Re	efere	nces															73
\mathbf{A}	DC	Side F	Filter Ind	creasing													87
в	FPO	GA Pro	ogramm	ing												;	89
\mathbf{C}	soc	GI PLI	L Analys	sis												9	92

Figures

2.1	Centralized battery connection. Batteries are connected in series achieving high DC-link voltage.	3
2.2	Distributed battery connection. Batteries are connected in parallel to individual con-	-
2.3	H-Bridge Inverter topology. IGBTs states are controlled to transform DC-link voltage	4
2.4	Bipolar Modulation Scheme PWM for a H-Bridge inverter. AC output voltage is varied	0
2.5	between $\pm V_{dc}$. $m_a = 0.8$, $f_1 = 50$ Hz, $m_f = 10$	6
2.6	charging or discharging	7
2.7	have three different states, i.e. $\pm V_{dc}$ or 0. $m_a = 0.8$, $f_1 = 50$ Hz, $m_f = 10. \ldots$ Switching states and current path depending on current direction. Current can go through freewheeling diodes when output voltage is 0 and DC Source is remained in	7
2.8	idle state not delivering or receiving current	9
2.9	connected in series, producing a multilevel AC output voltage Output voltage waveform of a seven-level CHB inverter schematic omitting semicon- ductor switching. Multiple levels can be achieved by adding the input DC-link voltage	10
2.10	of the H-Bridges	11
2.11	period. $m_a = 0.8, m_f = 10.$ Level Shifted PWM in a seven-level CHB inverter. Modulation signals are in phase. Carriers are shifted in amplitude and constant in all operation time. Duty cycles are	12
2.12	very different among cells through a fundamental period. $m_a = 0.8, m_f = 10.$ Level Shifted PWM in a seven-level CHB inverter. Carriers are shifted in amplitude in	13
2.13	different ways	14
	determined cycles, in this example, every cycle. Duty cycles are equal among cells through a fundamental period. $m_a = 0.8$, $m_f = 10$.	14

2.14	Simulation - Weighted THD and THD Comparison for different PWM techniques (phase-	
	shift (PS), level-shift with no permutation (LSNP) and level-shift with permutation	
	(LSP)) in a 7L MLI depending on switching frequency with constant modulation index	
	$m_{c} = 0.8$. THD is remained constant as harmonics component is the same. WTHD	
	is reduced with high frequencies as harmonics are moved towards higher frequencies	
	WTHD utilizing PS PWM is lowest because of highest effective switching frequency	16
9.15	Simulation Weighted THD and THD Comparison for different PWM techniques in	10
2.10	Simulation - weighted THD and THD Comparison for different 1 with techniques in MLI depending on the number of levels with constant modulation index $m_{\rm c} = 0.8$ and	
	with depending on the number of levels with constant modulation index $m_a = 0.8$ and	
	switching frequency $f_{sw} = 5$ kHz. THD is reduced with the number of levels as KMS AC	
	output voltage is closer to sinusoidal fundamental waveform. WTHD utilizing PS-PWM	10
	is lowest because of highest effective switching frequency.	16
2.16	Simulation - Switching and conduction losses comparison between PWM techniques at	
	20kHz switching frequency in a 7L CHB	17
2.17	Simplified battery diagram. Battery degradation is important in second-life batteries,	
	e.g. caused by electrodes fractures	18
2.18	Second order electrical equivalent battery model. The higher the number of RC-	
	branches, the better the model accuracy.	21
2.19	Li-Ion battery voltage response because of a discharging current pulse. Series resistance	
	and RC-branch behaviour are related to ΔV_0 and ΔV_1 , respectively	22
2.20	OCV as a function of SOC. Battery pack voltage approximated to serial connection of	
	70 cells	24
2.21	Residual battery capacity over lifetime	24
2.22	Battery Impedance plot in the Nyquist plane	26
2.23	Impedance Estimation - Linear model approximation. RC branches dynamical be-	
	haviour is neglected.	27
3.1	Final Topology Utilized. Decentralized topology in a single-stage DC/AC.	28
3.2	Single-phase LCL output filter diagram. Converter side inductance and capacitor are	
	fixed. Grid side inductance can be determined.	29
3.3	Bode diagram of the LC filter utilized in the laboratory. Resonance frequency at 1KHz.	30
3.4	Single-phase LCL output filter diagram. Converter side inductance and capacitor are	
	fixed. Grid side inductance is designed.	31
3.5	LCL Bode diagram. The resonance frequency is at 2.4kHz and the effective switching	
	frequency is at 16.8kHz.	32
4.1	Decentralized battery connection in a single stage. Batteries are modelled with a single	
	RC stage and a series resistance. An LCL filter is utilized to interface the CHB with	
	the load and grid	34
4.2	Control method based on the instantaneous power theory. One PR Controller is utilized	
	to control the output AC current	34

4.3	Block diagram of a non-ideal PR controller. The cut-off frequency ω_c avoids infinite	
	gain at fundamental frequency ω_0	5
4.4	PR controller - Bode Diagram	6
4.5	PR controller - Controller Block Diagram. The PR controller, computation delay and	
	the LCL filter plant connected in series. The measured current is then fed-back and	
	subtracted to the reference current	6
4.6	PR controller - Step Response Diagram Theoretically	7
4.7	PR Controller - Simulated currents waveform response	8
4.8	PR Controller - Currents waveform response THD analysis	8
4.9	Block Diagram of a conventional FFSOGI-PLL	9
4.10	PLL controller response against fast changes in amplitude, frequency and phase angle.	
	The designed PLL rejects disturbances	9
4.11	Battery discharging dependent on SOE and capacity visual representation 4	2
4.12	Exemplification of active balancing technique in a three-battery system. Battery 3	
	returns to the mid-SOC range after being charged from batteries one and two 4	3
4.13	Schematic Active Balancing Technique. In the discharge process modulation signals are	
	in phase. In the charge process the modulation signal of the battery to be charged is	
	reversed. Only P states for positive current are shown	3
4.14	Active Balancing Technique - Modulation signals in the balancing process. When all	
	cells discharge, the modulation index is equally among the cells. When one of the cells	
	is charging, the modulation index is inverse and decreased in amplitude and the rest	
	increase the amplitude so the sum is equal to one	4
4.15	Simulation generic description for the simulations carried out in the following proposed	
	strategies 4	5
4.16	Strategy ED - Equal distribution power distribution factor schematic implementation. 4	6
4.17	Simulation - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOE	7
4.18	Simulation - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOC and power distribution 4	7
4.19	Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing power distribution factors schematic implementation 4	8
4.20	Simulation - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing $n = 1$ - SOE $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 4$	9
4.21	Simulation - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing $n = 1$ - SOC and power distribution 4	9
4.22	Strategy SOES: Sum of Differences in State of Energy dependent on $n. \ldots 5$	0
4.23	Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting power distribution factors schematic implementation for	
	the discharging process. In the charging process, the same can be applied by subtituting	
	'max' by 'min'	1
4.24	Strategy SOES- SOE Sorting. Optimal Solutions to problem formulation in (4.20) jump	
	between vertex of the given parallelogram	1
4.25	Simulation - Strategy SOEB - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOE	2
4.26	Laboratory - Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOC and power distribution . 5	2

4.27	Control method based on the instantaneous power theory. A variable frequency signal	
	is injected to the modulation signals	54
4.28	Injected current reference frequencies on top of fundamental frequency	55
4.29	Simulation - Modulation signals after variable frequency signal injection - Zoom view	
	at 400Hz	55
4.30	Simulation - Battery currents and voltage with 400 Hz frequency injection. The ampli-	
	tude and phase of the frequency of interest, the impedance spectroscopy can be estimated.	55
4.31	Injected current reference frequencies on top of fundamental frequency	56
4.32	Impedance spectroscopy Nyquist plot. Frequencies vary from 5 kHz to 1 mHz. Only	
	the semielipse corresponding to one RC-branch is obtained	56
5.1	Laboratory - Picture of the setup. Three different cabinets where used to store the	
	setup. Values for components and electrical diagram can be found in Fig. 5.2 and	
	Table 5.1.	57
5.2	Laboratory - Schematic Setup. Four linear DC supplies for batteries one and two	
	emulation. One battery simulator for battery three. Grid simulator or a passive resistor	
	at the output can be placed	58
5.3	Laboratory - Carrier and modulation signals from dSpace and Seven Level Output	
	Voltage measured in the oscilloscope	59
5.4	Laboratory - PLL response. Step changes in voltage amplitude, frequency and phase	
	shift has been applied to test the robust design	60
5.5	Laboratory - Current controller response	60
5.6	Laboratory - FFT analysis of the current controller response. Obtained values are below	
	the standard limits for battery plants connection [134]	61
5.7	Laboratory - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOE and SOC	62
5.8	Laboratory - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOC and power distribution \ldots	62
5.9	Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing $n = 5$ - SOE \ldots	63
5.10	Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing $n=5\text{-}$ SOC and power distributions	63
5.11	Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing - SOE with increasing values for factor \boldsymbol{n}	64
5.12	Laboratory - Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOE	64
5.13	Laboratory - Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOC and power distributions	65
5.14	Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing - SOE with increasing values for factor	
	g_{max}	65
5.15	Laboratory - Strategy ED - Grid Connection - Equal Distribution - SOE and Modulation	
	Signals	66
5.16	Laboratory - Strategy ED - Grid Connection - Equal Distribution - Power, current and	
	voltage	66
5.17	Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - Grid Connection - SOE Balancing n = 5 - SOE and	
	Modulation Signals	67

5.18	Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - Grid Connection - SOE Balancing $n = 5$ Power, current	
	and voltage	67
5.19	Laboratory - Strategy SOES - Grid Connection - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOE and	
	Modulation Signals	67
5.20	Laboratory - Strategy SOES - Grid Connection - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ Power, current	
	and voltage	68
5.21	Laboratory - Strategy SOES - Active Balancing Technique - SOE Sorting $g_{max}=0.6$ -	
	SOE and SOC	68
5.22	Laboratory - Strategy ED - Active Balancing Technique - Power Distribution factors	
	and Modulation Signals	69
A.1	Laboratory - Capacitor tank implemented	87
A.2	Laboratory - PCB and Capacitor tank implemented	88
A.3	Laboratory - Capacitor ripple measured in the original and the modified system	88
B.1	Modulation signals and carriers are made in Simulink. Comparison and dead-time are	
	made in the FPGA. Signals are provided to the H-Bridge	89
B.2	Modulation signals provided to the default dSpace Blockset are not optimum. The	
	phase-shift between can cause unstable operation	89
B.3	Block diagram of the implemented FPGA comparison and dead-time.	90
B.4	Block diagram with logical waveforms producing the dead-time in the gate signals	91
C.1	Block diagram of a conventional FFSOGI-PLL	92
C.2	Bode plot of the QSG transfer functions	93
C.3	Impulse response in the quadrature signal generation G_{α} transfer function	93

Tables

2.1	Commutation states, voltage levels and conducting devices in unipolar modulation $\ .$.	8
2.2	Battery energy storage technologies - an overview	19
2.3	SoC estimation methods	22
4.1	Batteries simulation conditions	45
4.2	Overview - Strategies proposed	53
5.1	Hardware parameters	58

Chapter 1

Introduction

The world's energy demand is increasing year after year. The utilization of non-renewable sources of energy to accomplish this demand is under discussion. However, the reserves of these sources are decreasing continuously and contribute significantly to the global warming issue. Therefore, renewable energy sources (RES) are becoming more crucial to counteract the problem of future energy supply. Renewable energies market has been one of the most promising in the last years [1], [2]. As a result, the global market was valued at \$ 881.7 Billion in 2020, and is expected to reach \$ 1977 Billion in 2030 [3]. Wind power and photovoltaic (PV) systems are the most widespread RES. The implementation of these energy sources into the power grid is made through Distributed Generation (DG) plants. By 2050, it is expected that 47% of all renewable energy sources will be generated from solar energy, 34% from wind energy, 13 % from hydroelectric energy and 6% from the other sources [4]. Further, the Global Market Outlook for Solar Power anticipates that the expected amount of installed PV capacities to at least 123.5 MW in 2021 and 174.7 MW in 2025 [5]. Even though these sources of energy have many advantages in terms of environmental impact, they also present some challenges in term of system integration, e.g. variable energy supply due to the volatility of the environmental conditions [6].

Energy storage systems (ESS) aid the grid power distribution when renewable energy generation can not fulfil the required power load, but also maximizing profit when the production is greater than the load and energy can be saved in the ESS. Further, ESS can be utilized in the primary and secondary grid frequency regulation, active power flow and many other applications [7]. Some of the leading technologies used in electrical storage systems are divided into mechanical, e.g. pumped hydro; chemical, e.g. biofuel; electrochemical, e.g. batteries; and cryogenic, e.g. liquid air [8]. Battery energy storage system (BESS) is widely utilized as RES in DG systems [9]. Batteries can be made from a wide range of different technology, e.g. Lead Acid, Lithium-Ion and Nickel-Cadmium. One of the main applications of ESS is the EV market.

It is expected that the amount of EVs (excluding two and three wheels vehicles) will rise from 8 million in 2019 up to 50 million and 140 million in 2025 and 2050, respectively [10]. This rapid growth in EVs will require a large number of batteries. When a battery installed in an EV has reached specific degradation, it needs to be replaced, i.e. the end of its first-life. What to do with the replaced battery is still under discussion, as it can be recycled or, preferably, given a second use in the applications where the requirements are less demanding. This second-life utilization could be, e.g. for residential applications or grid support [11]. Second-life batteries present some challenges, as the state-of-charge (SOC) and the state-of-health (SOH) varies from battery to battery. Therefore, diagnosing and sorting the batteries into similar ratings needs to be done at a first stage. In later stages, the control power electronic converters play a key role in the system's operation.

Power electronic converters (PEC) are widely used when integrating RES and BESS into the grid [12]. PEC allow flexibility and controllability in the interconnection of generation units and loads. Due to the increase in energy demand, higher power ratings have been developed and multilevel topologies have arisen. Different configurations can be utilized to connect such sources to the grid, e.g. centralized, string, multi-string, ac-module topologies [13], [14]. When utilizing a centralized topology, the overall performance is limited by the operation of the weakest link, i.e. the most degraded battery or PV panel; by utilizing a cascaded H-bridge (CHB) topology, i.e. a distributed topology, the system can be controlled at a more optimal operating point [15]–[17]. In this way, the control method can manage the power delivered from each battery and diagnose the SOC and SOH individually. The CHB topology requires the study and implementation of suitable control strategies and different modulation techniques.

1.1 Problem Statement

The problem statement summarising the essence of this work is formulated as:

Can second-life battery systems be used for residential applications using distributed power electronic system?

This statement includes the following:

- How to develop a method to diagnose the SOH of batteries using power converters.
- How can the balancing of battery systems be achieved using distributed power electronics.
- Benchmark the proposed control strategies to be implemented for second-life batteries with distributed power electronics.

Chapter 2

State of Art

This chapter introduces the basic concepts leading to a better understanding of how a connection of a BESS to the grid utilizing a cascaded H-Bridge topology is made. To control the system, it is of great importance to understand the general working operation and different modulation techniques when utilizing the H-Bridge topology in multilevel inverters. At first, the need for utilizing the cascaded H-Bridge solution when connecting renewable energy sources to the grid is presented. Later, the working principle for the H-Bridge is explained, as well as its implementation in the cascaded H-Bridge topology utilizing different modulation techniques. Further, a comparison between the level-shifted and the phase-shifted pulse width modulation techniques is made. Finally, a description of the batteries' fundamentals and characteristics are presented.

2.1 Grid Connection of Battery Energy Storage Systems

Grid connection of PV-Battery-Hybrid (PVBH) systems has been normally performed using different configurations [1], [14]–[16], [18], as shown in Fig. 2.1 and 2.2 for BESS sources in a centralized and decentralized configuration, respectively.



Figure 2.1: Centralized battery connection. Batteries are connected in series achieving high DC-link voltage.



Figure 2.2: Distributed battery connection. Batteries are connected in parallel to individual converters.

As can be observed in Fig. 2.1 and 2.2, there are two main topologies for power converter systems, a single-stage, i.e. no DC/DC converter is utilized; and a double-stage, i.e. a DC/DC converter is utilized. The use of a double-stage converter is utilized when the battery voltage needs to be stepped up, e.g. to minimize the DC-link voltage level requirement in the PV or battery side, to be able to inject current into the grid [19]. The use of a DC/DC converter ensures constant DC voltage. The main drawbacks of utilizing this DC/DC converter are the increase of complexity in the system and the decreased efficiency and costs[20]. Due to these reasons, the implementation of a DC/DC converter can be suppressed when the total DC-link nominal voltage is high enough. Further, the distributed topology shown in Fig. 2.2b has been proven to achieve higher efficiency than a centralized topology, as in Fig. 2.1b, which makes it attractive for the industry in second-life battery systems applications [21]. In the centralized inverter topology, batteries are connected in series, and the weakest battery module limits the overall system's performance [22], a drawback that is not present in decentralized topologies.

2.2 H-Bridge Topology

The full bridge or H-Bridge topology is widely used in electronic power systems. It was first presented by Mcmurray in 1965 [23]. The H-Bridge topology consists of four semiconductor devices with their respective antiparallel diodes, as it is shown in Fig. 2.3. The semiconductor devices illustrated in the figures are IGBTs.



Figure 2.3: H-Bridge Inverter topology. IGBTs states are controlled to transform DC-link voltage into AC voltage at output terminals.

The DC input voltage is applied between P and N terminals. A capacitor on the DC side is used to filter the ripples and ensure constant DC voltage. By switching ON and OFF the semiconductors, it is possible to produce an AC voltage at the output terminals v_a and v_b . When this AC voltage is applied to a reactance, an AC current can be achieved. Then, the DC voltage and current are translated to an AC voltage and current. The power quality of the output signals may vary depending on the modulation technique used to switch ON and OFF the semiconductors.

2.3 Pulse Width Modulation Techniques

Carrier-based pulse width modulation (PWM) techniques are widely used in inverter control [24]–[26]. The principle of operation relies on the comparison of a sinusoidal waveform (modulation signal) with a triangular waveform (carrier signal). The modulation signal will have an amplitude, also known as modulation index, m_a , with a value of $m_a \in [-1, 1]$ in the linear range, and $m_a > 1$ in overmulation. This signal will have a frequency of f_1 , i.e. the output voltage fundamental frequency. The carrier signal will have a frequency f_{cr} , and the relation between them is known as frequency modulation index m_f :

$$m_f = \frac{f_{cr}}{f_1} \tag{2.1}$$

The number of modulation and carrier signals will depend on the PWM technique used and the system topology. The output voltage can be obtained by utilizing bipolar or unipolar schemes for the H-Bridge topology.

When utilizing **bipolar** modulation, a single carrier is compared with a single modulation signal, as can be observed in Fig. 2.4



Figure 2.4: Bipolar Modulation Scheme PWM for a H-Bridge inverter. AC output voltage is varied between $\pm V_{dc}$. $m_a = 0.8$, $f_1 = 50$ Hz, $m_f = 10$.

As can be observed, only two output voltage levels can be obtained, $V_{HBk} = \pm V_{dc}$, supposing the DC voltage supply to be constant. The peak output voltage value is, in the linear range [24], assuming the capacitor voltage $V_{Ck} = V_{dc}$

$$\hat{V}_{HBk} = m_a \cdot V_{Ck} \tag{2.2}$$

and in overmodulation,

$$V_{Ck} < \hat{V}_{HBk} < \frac{4}{\pi} V_{Ck} \tag{2.3}$$

Because $4V_{Ck}/\pi$ would be the output voltage in square wave modulation. When utilizing bipolar PWM, switches are turned ON and OFF diagonally in a way such as

if
$$V_{control} > V_{carrier} \longrightarrow S_{k1}, S_{k4}$$
 ON and S_{k2}, S_{k3} OFF
if $V_{control} < V_{carrier} \longrightarrow S_{k1}, S_{k4}$ OFF and S_{k2}, S_{k3} ON

The switching between ON and OFF is produced at the carrier frequency. Due to this switching pattern, the current paths in a H-Bridge converter may behave as shown in Fig. 2.5a for positive output currents and Fig. 2.5b for negative output currents.



Figure 2.5: Switching states and current path depending on current direction. Considering unity power factor current is always flowing by S_{k1} - S_{k4} or S_{k2} - S_{k3} . Batteries are always either charging or discharging. The voltage harmonics at V_{HBj} appear at

$$f_h^{bi} = h \cdot f_1 = j(m_f \pm b)f_1 \tag{2.4}$$

That is, the harmonic h will appear as the sideband b^{th} of j times the output fundamental frequency.

When utilizing **unipolar** modulation, more than one modulation signal or carrier signal is needed. Here, a single modulation signal and the two of carrier signals are used. Figure 2.6 shows a three-level unipolar modulation scheme.



Figure 2.6: Unipolar Modulation Scheme PWM for an H-Bridge Inverter. AC output voltage can have three different states, i.e. $\pm V_{dc}$ or 0. $m_a = 0.8$, $f_1 = 50$ Hz, $m_f = 10$.

The switching pattern extracted from Fig. 2.6 is described as

if
$$V_{control} > V_{carrier}^1 \longrightarrow S_{k1}$$
 ON and S_{k2} OFF
if $V_{control} < V_{carrier}^1 \longrightarrow S_{k1}$ OFF and S_{k2} ON
if $V_{control} > V_{carrier}^2 \longrightarrow S_{k3}$ ON and S_{k4} OFF
if $V_{control} < V_{carrier}^2 \longrightarrow S_{k4}$ OFF and S_{k4} ON

The H-Bridge inverter shown in Fig. 2.3 can output a maximum of three voltage levels in unipolar modulation, depending on the commutation of the power devices, as shown in Table 2.1.

State	S_{k1}	S_{k2}	S_{k3}	S_{k4}	v_{ck}	Conducting device							
I	1	0	0	1	V_{\cdot}^{dc}	S_{k1} and S_{k4} if $i_c > 0$							
1	1			1	• k	D_{k1} and D_{k4} if $i_c < 0$							
11	1	0	1	0	0	S_{k1} and D_{k3} if $i_c > 0$							
	1			0	0	D_{k1} and D_{k3} if $i_c < 0$							
III	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	Vdc	D_{k2} and D_{k3} if $i_c > 0$				
	0	1	L	0	$-v_k$	S_{k2} and S_{k3} if $i_c < 0$							
IV	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	D_{k2} and S_{k4} if $i_c > 0$
	0			1	0	S_{k2} and D_{k4} if $i_c < 0$							
V	0	0	0	0	$-V_k^{dc}$	D_{k2} and D_{k3} if $i_c > 0$							
V	0			U	$V_k^{\hat{d}c}$	D_{k1} and D_{k4} if $i_c < 0$							

Table 2.1: Commutation states, voltage levels and conducting devices in unipolar modulation

These states and commutation states yield to the current paths shown in Fig. 2.7a and 2.7b for positive and negative output AC current cycle with unity factor.

Assuming a pure sinewave in the output voltage V_{HBk} as:

$$v_{HBk}^{h=1} = \sqrt{2} V_{HBk} \sin(\omega_1 t) \tag{2.5}$$

Then, assuming that a well designed filter is applied at the output, the current in the AC side will be have an RMS value of I_s and lagging the voltage with ϕ degrees:

$$i_s = \sqrt{2}I_s \sin(\omega_1 t - \phi) \tag{2.6}$$

Further assuming that the LC filters do not store or dissipate energy, the instantaneous input and output power is equal, with constant DC-source input voltage hence [24]:

$$V_{Ck} \cdot I_k^{HB}(t) = v_{HBk} \cdot i_s = \sqrt{2} V_{HBk} \sin(\omega_1 t) \sqrt{2} I_s \sin(\omega_1 t - \phi)$$
(2.7)



Figure 2.7: Switching states and current path depending on current direction. Current can go through freewheeling diodes when output voltage is 0 and DC Source is remained in idle state not delivering or receiving current.

And therefore:

$$I_1^{HB} = \frac{V_{HBk}I_s}{V_{ck}}\cos(\phi) - \frac{V_{HBk}I_s}{V_{ck}}\cos(2\omega_1 t - \phi) = I_d - I_{ac}\cos(2\omega_1 t - \phi)$$
(2.8)

where:

$$I_d = \frac{V_{HBk}I_c}{V_{ck}}\cos(\phi) \tag{2.9}$$

and

$$I_{ac} = \frac{V_{HBk}I_c}{\sqrt{2}V_{ck}} \tag{2.10}$$

It can be seen in (2.8) that the current in the DC-side is a compound of two terms. One is responsible for transferring the power from the DC- to the AC-side, which is I_d DC-link current magnitude. The other one is a sinusoidal current ripple of double the fundamental frequency.

Further, the peak output voltage value is the same as for bipolar modulation, described in (2.2). On the other hand, the harmonics appear at

$$f_h^{uni} = h \cdot f_1 = (j2m_f \pm b)f_1 \tag{2.11}$$

Therefore, as can be observed in (2.4) and (2.11), the harmonics when using unipolar modulation are moved to higher frequencies. In such a way, the output voltage quality is increased significantly, yielding to smaller filters at the output.

Due to the increase in power ratings and growth in energy demand, different solutions arise to accomplish the requirements. The solution chosen to be used in this project is the well known multilevel inverter, the cascaded H-Bridge.

2.4 Cascaded H-Bridge Converters

When multiple H-Bridge inverters are connected in series, a Cascaded H-Bridge (CHB) inverter is formed. The individual H-Bridge along the CHB are also called *power cells*, *bridge cells* or simply *cells*. Figure 2.8 shows a k-order CHB converter, which was first presented in 1975 by Baker and Bannister [27]. This type of converter is part of a wide range of multilevel inverters (MLI). The CHB topology is mainly used in high-power and medium-voltage applications [26]. The input constant voltage source represents any source, i.e. PV or batteries.



Figure 2.8: Cascaded H-Bridge inverter topology. Multiple H-Bridge inverters output terminals are connected in series, producing a multilevel AC output voltage.

Given that each bridge cell can output three different voltage levels, then $v_{HBk} \in [-V_{Ck}, V_{Ck}]$, which can be controlled within that range by introducing a continuous variable $M_k \in [-1, 1]$ therefore, the dynamical model of the system can be expressed as [16], [28], [29] in (2.12) and (2.13)

$$\dot{i}_s = \frac{1}{L_f} \left(\sum_{k=1}^k (M_k v_{Ck}) - R_f \cdot i_s - v_g \right)$$
(2.12)

$$\dot{v}_{Ck} = \frac{1}{C_k} (i_k^{HB} - M_k \cdot i_s) \text{ with } k = 1, ..., n$$
(2.13)

As can be observed in (2.12), to control the current injected into the grid, which voltage is v_g , the output voltage v_{HB} needs to be controlled, as the total output voltage [30] is

$$v_{HB} = \sum_{j=1}^{k} v_{HBj} = \sum_{j=1}^{k} (M_j v_{Cj})$$
(2.14)

Further, the total amount of voltage levels, m, at v_{HB} are

$$m = 2H + 1 \tag{2.15}$$

being H the number of bridge cells.

For instance, a seven-level CHB comprising three cells, will output the voltage shown in Fig. 2.9. This is because each cell output terminals supplies each voltage level.



Figure 2.9: Output voltage waveform of a seven-level CHB inverter schematic omitting semiconductor switching. Multiple levels can be achieved by adding the input DC-link voltage of the H-Bridges.

The CHB's output current, i_s , is the same for all HB cells. Because these current must be controlled, the CHB's output voltage must also be controlled. As previously stated, the CHB output voltage is the sum of each cell's output voltage. The output voltage v_{HBj} of each bridge cell must be adjusted to control the power delivered by each cell [31]. In such a way, the CHB topology can be utilized as a distributed power electronic converter.

2.5 PWM for Multilevel Inverters

The basic concepts explained in Section 2.3 can also be applied to multilevel inverters by applying appropriate modifications. Due to the better performance of the unipolar against the bipolar modulation, only unipolar will be considered.

2.5.1 Phase-Shifted PWM

In a phase-shift PWM (PS-PWM) technique, there exist H modulation signals and m-1 carrier signals, being H the number of cells and m the number of levels. Here, the modulation signals are in phase and have the same modulation index, i.e. only one modulation signal, called "control" signal is shown. These carrier signals are displaced to each other with an angle of [26]:

$$\phi = \frac{360^{\circ}}{m-1} \tag{2.16}$$

For example, in a three-cell bridge CHB, i.e. a seven-level CHB inverter $(m = 2 \cdot 3 + 1 = 7)$, the number of carriers is m - 1 = 6, and are displaced to each other by $360^{\circ}/6 = 60^{\circ}$, as in Fig. 2.10.



Figure 2.10: Phase Shifted PWM in a seven-level CHB inverter. Modulation signals are in phase. Carriers are shifted in angle. Duty cycles are equal among cells through a fundamental period. $m_a = 0.8$, $m_f = 10$.

As the output voltage of a CHB is the sum of the individual power cells' output voltage, the effective switching frequency utilizing PS-PWM is:

$$f_{sw}^{PS-PWM} = 2H \cdot f_{cr} \tag{2.17}$$

which is the frequency seen from the output CHB terminals.

2.5.2 Level-Shifted PWM

Similarly to the PS-PWM, H modulation signals and m-1 carrier signals are utilized. In this case, normalizing the modulation and carrier signals, each carrier is level shifted with an offset, as can be seen in Fig. 2.11.



Figure 2.11: Level Shifted PWM in a seven-level CHB inverter. Modulation signals are in phase. Carriers are shifted in amplitude and constant in all operation time. Duty cycles are very different among cells through a fundamental period. $m_a = 0.8$, $m_f = 10$.

The effective switching frequency utilizing PS-PWM is described as

$$f_{sw}^{LS-PWM} = f_{cr} \tag{2.18}$$

There exist three schemes for LS-PWM [32], the in-phase disposition (IPD), the alternated phase opposite disposition (APOD) and the phase opposite disposition (POD), all illustrated in Fig. 2.12. It is proven in [33] that the three LS-PWM schemes perform very similar to each other, therefore only the IPD is considered in this work.



Figure 2.12: Level Shifted PWM in a seven-level CHB inverter. Carriers are shifted in amplitude in different ways.

As can be observed in Fig. 2.11, the amount of time each H-Bridge is conducting is unequally distributed when utilizing LS-PWM. In such figure, it can be seen that $S3_1$ is conducting the most while $S1_1$ is conducting the least. One solution to equalize losses among the cells is presented by Angulo et al. [30] propose a rotative LS-PWM in which the levels of the carriers change their offset periodically, as illustrated in Fig. 2.13. In this figure, the permutation is performed every switching period, whereas it can be applied at other integer multiples of the switching period [31] This technique is presented under the name LS-PWM with permutation or LSP-PWM. The LS-PWM with no permutation will be named LSNP-PWM from now on.



Figure 2.13: Level Shifted PWM with permutation per cycle in a seven-level CHB inverter. Modulation signals are in phase. Carriers are shifted in amplitude and permuted every determined cycles, in this example, every cycle. Duty cycles are equal among cells through a fundamental period. $m_a = 0.8$, $m_f = 10$.

2.5.3 Harmonic Distortion

To quantify the quality of the currents and voltages, the Total Harmonic Distortion (THD) calculation is used. Considering the voltage THD, it can be defined as

$$THD = \sqrt{\left(\frac{V_{rms}}{V_{1,rms}}\right)^2 - 1}$$
(2.19)

In which an $V_{1,rms}$ is the fundamental harmonic voltage in rms value, being the Root Mean Square (RMS) quantity calculated as

$$V_{rms} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{T} \int_0^T v(t)^2 dt}$$
 (2.20)

and T the period of the waveform. Expression (2.19) can also be expressed as peak values in the form

$$THD = \frac{\sqrt{\sum_{n\geq 2}^{\infty} V_n^2}}{V_1} \tag{2.21}$$

It must be noticed that the THD characterization does not take the place of the harmonics into account, as it calculates the sum of all the harmonics, regardless of the frequency. To take into account how far the harmonics are from the fundamental frequency, the Weighted Total Harmonic Distortion (WTHD) is used.

$$WTHD = \frac{\sqrt{\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \left(\frac{V_n}{n}\right)^2}}{V_1} \tag{2.22}$$

By inspecting (2.22), it can be observed that the total WTHD value is smaller when the harmonics are moved towards higher frequencies.

The following comparison is given below between PS-PWM, LSNP-PWM (level-shift with no permutation PWM), and LSP-PWM (level-shift with permutation) for different switching frequencies and voltage levels, using the concepts presented in the harmonic distortion.

Figure 2.14 shows the simulation results for a 7L CHB with different switching frequencies and a constant modulation index of $m_a = 0.8$. Both THD and WTHD have been calculated utilizing (2.21) and (2.22). It can be observed in Fig. 2.14a that the THD is very similar for all the switching frequencies, as the place of the harmonics is not taken into account. The THD is slightly smaller for the PS-PWM modulation due to the higher effective switching frequency, i.e. six times effective switching frequency, as described in (2.17), because a limited amount of harmonics can be computed. This fact on the effective switching frequency is greatly observed by inspecting Fig. 2.14b, in which the WTHD is performed. As expected, the WTHD for the PS-PWM is much smaller, around one-sixth of the WTHD for the LSNP-PWM and LSP-PWM. Further, it can be observed that the WTHD reduces significantly by increasing the switching frequency for all the PWM techniques.



Figure 2.14: Simulation - Weighted THD and THD Comparison for different PWM techniques (phase-shift (PS), level-shift with no permutation (LSNP) and level-shift with permutation (LSP)) in a 7L MLI depending on switching frequency with constant modulation index $m_a = 0.8$. THD is remained constant as harmonics component is the same. WTHD is reduced with high frequencies as harmonics are moved towards higher frequencies. WTHD utilizing PS-PWM is lowest because of highest effective switching frequency.

Figure 2.15 shows the simulation results for different levels of a CHB with constant switching frequency of $f_{sw} = 5$ kHz and constant modulation index of $m_a = 0.8$. It can be observed in Fig. 2.15a that the THD is greatly reduced when increasing the number of levels. This is because the more number of levels, the closer the output voltage will look like the fundamental sinusoidal waveform and less THD will be contained. As explained for Fig. 2.14b, the WTHD is greater reduced in PS-PWM compared to that of the LSP-PWM and LSNP-PWM due to the higher effective switching frequency. Further, it can be observed that the WTHD reduces significantly by increasing the number of levels for all the PWM techniques.



Figure 2.15: Simulation - Weighted THD and THD Comparison for different PWM techniques in MLI depending on the number of levels with constant modulation index $m_a = 0.8$ and switching frequency $f_{sw} = 5$ kHz. THD is reduced with the number of levels as RMS AC output voltage is closer to sinusoidal fundamental waveform. WTHD utilizing PS-PWM is lowest because of highest effective switching frequency.

It can be observed in Fig. 2.14 and 2.15, that even though the THD is equal for all the PWM techniques, the WTHD for the PS-PWM is less than six times the WTHD of the LSP-PWM and LSNP-PWM. Therefore, utilizing PS-PWM would yield better power quality than the same system utilizing LSP-PWM and LSNP-PWM.

Regarding the losses distribution depending on the PWM technique, it is shown in Fig. 2.16 the losses for the conduction and switching losses in the three cells utilized in the 7L-CHB system at a constant switching frequency of $f_{sw} = 20$ kHz and modulation index of $m_a = 0.8$.



Figure 2.16: Simulation - Switching and conduction losses comparison between PWM techniques at 20kHz switching frequency in a 7L CHB.

Firstly, it can be observed in Fig. 2.16a, that, on average, all PWM techniques produce the same conduction losses, as the duty cycle per period remains the same, i.e., they conduct the same amount of current in a fundamental period. As expected, when applying PS-PWM or LSP-PWM, conduction losses are equally distributed among the cells, which is the main advantage of applying LSP-PWM. On the other one hand, when applying LS-PWM without permutation, i.e. LSNP-PWM, conduction losses are distributed unevenly among the cells. More precisely, the cell which is derived through the bottom triangular in the PWM scheme in Fig. 2.11 is the one with the highest conduction losses. Conversely, the cell switched with the top triangular in Fig. 2.16 for the LSNP-PWM technique, as the bottom cell is switched fewer times compared to the top cell, producing uneven switching power losses. It can be observed in the same figure that the switching losses in the PS-PWM are higher compared to that of the LS-PWM, as the effective switching frequency is of six times that of the LS-PWM.

Finally, it can be seen in Fig. 2.14, 2.15 and 2.16 that to choose the most convenient PWM technique, a balancing between power quality and losses distribution needs to be assessed.

2.6 Energy Storage Systems

The need to satisfy the increasing energy demand has pushed the growth for distributed generation (DG) to arise. DG reduces the power losses in the transmission system, improves power quality and increases the controllability of the system, among other advantages [34]. However, the high penetration of RES in the power grid, e.g. PV systems and wind farms, as examples of DG, implies the challenge of the output power control. To satisfy this issue, energy storage systems appear as a promising solution [35]–[40]. There exist different ways and technologies for storing energy, e.g. flywheels, hydrogen, compressed-air energy storage (CAES), superconducting magnetic energy storage (SMES), supercapacitors, battery energy storage systems (BESS) and pumped hydroelectric storage (PHS). Detailed information on the different ESS can be found in [34], [39]. As this project consists of BESS implementation, only electrochemical batteries are further explained.

2.6.1 Electrochemical Batteries

The utilization of batteries worldwide has spread in the last century, yielding to increasing research and development of materials and manufacturing technologies [41]. From now on, electrochemical batteries will be called *batteries* for the sake of simplification. Batteries convert chemical energy into electric energy by appropriate internal reactions in the cells. The manufactured structure of a battery is shown in a simplified diagram in Fig. 2.17.



Figure 2.17: Simplified battery diagram. Battery degradation is important in second-life batteries, e.g. caused by electrodes fractures.

As can be observed in Fig. 2.17, the system consists of two electrodes, the cathode and the anode. A current is created when these electrons flow from one electrode to the other. The space between electrodes is called the electrolyte. The exchange of electrons is called the reduction-oxidation process, or *redox*[42]. When connecting a load to the battery, the negative ions leave the anode through the wire, creating a current into the load, and reaching the cathode. When the negative ions reach the cathode, they neutralize the positive ions. If this process continues, all the positive ions will be neutralized, producing an increase in the battery's internal resistance until the potential between electrodes is not enough to create electron flow in the electrolyte, achieving a fully discharged battery state [34]. A battery pack is formed by individual battery cells. Batteries can be recharged once they have been discharged or not, i.e. secondary and primary battery cells, respectively. They can also be distinguished depending on the materials used in the electrodes and electrolyte, the power ratings, power density and more.

The most established secondary batteries are made of, e.g. Lead-acid (Pb-Acid), Nickel Cadmium (Ni-Cd), Nickel-metal hydride (NiMH), Lithium-ion (Li-Ion) and Lithium-ion polymer. An overview of them can be seen in Table 2.2. Table data has been taken from [43], [44]. Economic aspects can be found in [40].

Type	Energy	Energy	Power	Cycle Life	Self
	Efficiency	Density	Density	(cycles)	Discharge
	(%)	(Wh/Kg)	(W/Kg)		
Pb-Acid	70-80	20-50	250-500	200-2000	Low
Ni-Cd	60-90	40-60	140-180	500-2000	Low
Ni-MH	50-80	60-80	220	≤ 3000	High
Li-polymer	70	200	250-500	≥ 1200	Medium
Li-Ion	70-85	100-200	360	500-2000	Medium

Table 2.2: Battery energy storage technologies - an overview

Due to the Lithium-Ion battery's high energy and power density, they are increasingly being used in portable and stationary energy applications [45]. This is why Lithium-Ion batteries are widespread in electric vehicles (EVs) and hybrid -EVs (HEVs). It can be found in [46] a database with detailed information on the EV's batteries capacity. Further, in this project, second-life Lithium-Ion (Li-Ion) batteries are utilized for passive load and grid connection. In this matter, more than half of the grid connected BESS are based on Li-Ion technologies [40].

Definitions

The following terms are used to describe the physical and electrical properties of the battery [47]–[49]:

Capacity (C [Ah]): the amount of dischargeable charge available in the battery after a full charging. **Nominal Capacity** (C_{nom} [Ah]): is the discharging capacity at nominal condition (current and temperature) after full charging.

Nominal Voltage (VN [V]): is the battery voltage at nominal condition (nominal current and temperature), at 50% SOC.

State of Charge (SOC [%]): is the amount of charge in the battery after a certain time and load conditions [50]:

$$SOC(t) = SOC(t_0) - \frac{1}{C} \int_{t_0}^t i(\tau) d\tau$$
 (2.23)

Where SOC_0 is the starting point. As this method for SOC estimation includes the integral of the current, an increasing error can be computed if the measurement of the current is not precise.

Depth-of-Discharge $(DOD \ [\%])$: is the inverse of SOC.

Capacity Rate $(C_r \ [hour^{-1}])$: Is the normalized current per unit of C.

$$C_r = \frac{I}{C} \tag{2.24}$$

State of Health (SOH): The SOH is the relation between the current battery state and the state when it was new. No unique mathematical definition exist [51]. This quantity can be related to different parameters, e.g. battery capacity, resistance, power, etc.

In this work, the SOH is defined as the ratio between the maximum actual C_{act} and the C_{nom}

$$SOH = \frac{C_{act}}{C_{nom}} \tag{2.25}$$

Volumetric energy density (VED [Wh/l]): is the energy that can be obtained per battery unit of volume.

Gravimetric energy density (*GED* [Wh/kg]): is the energy that can be obtained per battery unit of weight.

Power density (PD [W/kg]): is the power that can be obtained per unit of volume.

Calendar Life (CaL [Years]): the amount of time a battery can be stored (idling) before the C reached the end-of-life criterion, e.g., 20% of its initial capacity.

Cycle life (CyL [Cycles]): is the number of charging and discharging cycles a secondary type battery can accept before the C reached the end-of-life criterion, e.g., 20% of its initial capacity.

Internal Resistance ($Ro [\Omega]$) is the opposition to flow of current between electrodes.

Open-Circuit Voltage (OCV [V]): is the voltage at output battery terminals without any load connected.

2.6.1.1 Battery Model

There exist different ways for modelling a battery, i.e. lifetime and performance models. A lifetime model is used to assess the degradation of the battery and to estimate the expected lifetime for which the battery can meet the requirements. A performance model is used to asses the physical and electrical behaviour of the battery at different operating conditions [52]. The performance model can limit the laboratory testing, avoid hazardous situations with real batteries, and size properly the BESS for a given application. To make a battery equivalent model, different considerations and dependence need to be considered.

The performance battery modelling is derived in three different ways:

- Electrochemical: utilizing this modelling technique, it is possible to describe the behaviour of the microscopic and the macroscopic dynamics individually.
- Mathematical: in most cases, this modelling is obtained with empirical equations, allowing the knowledge of macroscopic quantities, e.g. voltage, efficiency and SOC.
- Electrical: in this technique, the battery is described by general equations illustrating the equivalent electrical circuit (EEC). The EEC is built utilizing voltage sources, capacitors, inductances and resistances.
Electrical Performance Model

The electrical model approach emulates the battery dynamics by utilizing electrical components, such as voltage sources, resistors and capacitors [52]–[55], as shown in Fig. 2.18. Therefore, the greater the number of RC stages, the more accurate the model will be under dynamic changes in the current.



Figure 2.18: Second order electrical equivalent battery model. The higher the number of RC-branches, the better the model accuracy.

It is possible to represent the battery output voltage in state space form, to analyze the physical relation between components, if it was an $n^{th} - RC$ stage:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{V}_{cp,i} = \frac{i_L}{C_{p,i}} - \frac{V_{cp,i}}{R_{p,i}C_{p,i}} \\ V_{batt} = OCV - \sum_{i=1}^{n} V_{cp,i} - i_L R_o \end{cases}$$
(2.26)

It should be mentioned that the electrical equivalent battery model is dependent on different parameters, e.g. SOC (OCV), ambient temperature T and storage time [56]–[59]. In the range between 15% to 90%, OCV highly depends on the SOC rather than on the temperature. On the other hand, Z_{eq} highly depends on the temperature rather than on the SOC.

$$\begin{cases} OCV = f(SOC, T) \approx f(SOC) \\ Z_{eq} = f(SOC, T) \approx f(T) \end{cases}$$
(2.27)

The parameters seen in Fig. 2.18 can be obtained by curve fitting of data after a current discharge pulse method is carried on the battery of interest [60]–[63]. The discharge pulse method is shown in Fig. 2.19.

If the model to fit the data in Fig. 2.19 is a 1^{st} order system, the parameters can be obtained as:

$$\begin{cases} R_s = \frac{\Delta V_0}{\Delta_I} = \frac{OCV - V_1}{\Delta I} \\ R_1 = \frac{\Delta V_1}{\Delta_I} = \frac{V_1 - V_2}{\Delta I} \end{cases}$$
(2.28)



Figure 2.19: Li-Ion battery voltage response because of a discharging current pulse. Series resistance and RC-branch behaviour are related to ΔV_0 and ΔV_1 , respectively.

Solving the differential equation for the capacitor voltage:

$$V_2 = V_1 e^{-\frac{\Delta t}{\tau}} \longrightarrow \tau = -\frac{\Delta t}{\ln\left(\frac{V_2}{V_1}\right)}$$
(2.29)

Then C_1 can be obtained as $\tau = R_1 C_1$.

2.6.1.2 State of Charge Estimation

The State of Charge (SoC) has a non-linear relationship with the open-circuit voltage (OCV) of the battery cell [64], in which $it \propto SOC$. Different methods to estimate the SOC have been proposed in the literature and the most important ones are shown in Table 2.3 and more can be found in [64], [65].

Method	Principle of Operation	References	Complexity	Reliable
Open Circuit	Non-linear relation between	[66]–[69]	Low	High
Voltage	SOC-OCV with lookup table			
	which needs to be very accurate			
Impedance	Measure battery impedance and	[65], [70], [71]	Medium	Medium
Spectroscopy	correlate to SOC with lookup			
	table. The table is com-			
	puted by measuring the battery			
	impedance at different frequen-			
	cies			
Ampere-Hour	From known initial conditions,	[72], [73]	Low	Medium
Counting	which are difficult to determine,			
	measure how much current is de-			
	livered and supplied			
State Estimation	Based on Kalman Filters imple-	[74]-[82]	High	High
	ment state observers. Not very			
	affected by initial conditions.			

Table 2.3: SoC estimation methods

The widely used method chosen in this work to estimate the SOC of the batteries is the Ampere-Hour counting method, which is based on (2.23), repeated here for the sake of completeness:

$$SOC(t) = SOC(t_0) - \frac{1}{C} \int_{t_0}^t i(\tau) d\tau$$
 (2.30)

The actual SOC is settled on a previous state of the battery SOC. Therefore, if there exists an error in the initial condition for, i.e. $SOC(t_0)$ is incorrect, then the actual SOC will be affected by an accumulated error. Furthermore, as can be seen in (2.30), the actual SOC is calculated by taking into account the integral of the current in the battery. This current measurement is affected by measurement noise in practical applications, causing the actual SOC to drift from its real value. To overcome this issues, it is proposed in the literature to estimate the SOC by combining two or more methods [83], [84], e.g. Ampere-Hour counting and Open Circuit Voltage look-up table.

Battery parameters are strongly dependent on the SOC. One of the most important parameters to the SOC is the battery open-circuit voltage (OCV). Although there is no unique solution for the relationship between the OCV and the SOC, non-linear solutions have been presented in the literature [79]. The relation between OCV and SOC can be expressed in a polynomial-, logarithmic-, exponential equation, or a combination of them. The combined equation can be expressed as in (2.31) [85].

$$OCV(SOC) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 SOC + \alpha_2 \ln SOC^{-\beta_1} + \alpha_3 e^{-\gamma(SOC-1)} + \dots$$
(2.31)

In this project, the following (2.32) equation is utilized to describe the relation between SOC and OCV [52]:

$$OCV(SOC) = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 SOC + \alpha_2 SOC^2 + \alpha_3 SOC^3 + \alpha_4 e^{\beta_1 SOC}$$

$$(2.32)$$

In which $\alpha_0 = 3.685$, $\alpha_1 = 0.2156$, $\alpha_2 = -0.1178$, $\alpha_3 = 0.3201$, $\alpha_4 = -1.031$ and $\beta_1 = -35$ when the battery is discharging. These parameters are calculated for a single battery cell. The relation between OCV and SOC with (2.32) is shown in Fig. 2.20. In such a figure, a battery pack curve has been plotted. The battery pack OCV-SOC curve is obtained by multiplying the OCV-SOC for a single battery cell with a number of series connected cells. In Fig. 2.20, 70 cells are connected in series to achieve a higher battery voltage level [86]. The curve has been kept equal in the charge and discharge process [59], as the difference caused by not doing so are not of great importance in this project.



Figure 2.20: OCV as a function of SOC. Battery pack voltage approximated to serial connection of 70 cells.

2.6.1.3 Second-Life Batteries

A battery's lifetime can be defined in different stages. The beginning-of-life (BOL) starts when the battery finishes the manufacturing process. The first-life utilization (concept mainly referred to in the EVs market) ends when the battery fade is below a specific limit, after when the second-life begins. The battery's end of first-life fade limit is different depending on the requirements.

When a battery is at the end of its first-life, i.e. when it has a capacity of roughly 80%[87], [88] of its initial capacity in EVs applications, it can still be employed in applications with less strict requirements, such as residential or grid support [89]. It can be seen in Fig. 2.21 the concept behind battery degradation and second-life batteries (SLB) from beginning-of-life (BOL). The uncertainties related to the remaining capacity of a SLB can be expressed as a normal distribution of an average 75% [90].



Figure 2.21: Residual battery capacity over lifetime

The actual state of degradation or ageing of a battery can be quantified with the State-of-Health (SOH) [91]. The SOH can be related either to the battery resistance or capacity [92] and depending on the application, one or the other can be used.

Battery degradation or capacity fading is produced both by time (calendar ageing), and the number of cycles (cycling calendar) [93], [94]. Capacity fading can be divided into true capacity fading and rate capability loss [55]. True capacity fading is described by the relation between Li-Ion and active material loss, being independent on the current. In contrast, rate capability loss is related to its electrical variations in the internal resistance, dependent on the current [95]. A degraded battery increments the battery resistance [96] and an impedance growth [87]. Further, the battery impedance provides information on the SOC and SOH [97]. Battery storage at high temperatures can also produce more rapid degradation or capacity fade [87], [98].

The more degraded a battery is, the OCV-SOC curve is shifted more vertically in the discharging process and down in the charging process, producing a wider hysteresis area between them due to an increment in internal resistance [99]. The increasing resistance can be modelled with a polynomial-exponential equation as in [89]. The greater the number of terms, the more accurate the model will be compared to reality. In this project, the rate of change in the internal resistance is modelled as a constant value, as the rate of degradation is relatively low compared to the control time constants.

2.6.1.4 Second-Life Battery Model and Impedance Determination

Measurements and estimations on the battery impedance parameter can provide reliable information on the battery SOC and SOH [45], [97], [100]. Different methods can be used to determine the impedance. One of the most widely used is the Electrochemical-impedance-spectroscopy (EIS), which is an accurate method but challenging to implement due to its high complexity and long experimental times [101]. Other methods are proposed in the literature to overcome these drawbacks, i.e. broadband signal injection, e.g. pseudo-random-sequence (PRS) [102]. EIS method is mainly based on the injection of a sinusoidal current and measurement of the voltage amplitude and phase-shift to determine the impedance, as described by (2.33) [100], [103], [104], in which $Z_{bat}(j\omega)$ is the battery impedance, $V_{bat}(j\omega)$ and $I_{bat}(j\omega)$ are the battery terminal measured voltage and injected current, respectively.

$$Z_{bat}(j\omega) = \frac{V_{bat}(j\omega)}{I_{bat}(j\omega)}$$
(2.33)

The sinusoidal current is provided with different frequencies, obtaining the battery impedance spectrum in the real-complex plane, as can be seen in Fig. 2.22.



Figure 2.22: Battery Impedance plot in the Nyquist plane.

As seen in Fig. 2.22, the EIS curve consists of two semiellipses. The first semiellipse is related to the growth of the Solid-Electrolyte Interface (SEI), which appears at the battery electrode's material decomposition due to ageing [105]. The second ellipse is related to two processes, i.e. the charge transfer (CT) in the interface between electrodes and electrolyte, as well as the impedance in the battery chemical reaction, i.e. double layer capacity (DL) [106], [107]. Due to these processes related to battery ageing, second-life batteries will show different EIS curves according to their ageing. The greater the ageing, the lower the performance [108]. At very low frequencies, the diffusion effect reflects the mass transportation damping in the electrolytes [105], which can be neglected when considering higher frequencies [109].

In this work, the impedance spectroscopy (IS), is carried out with a CHB system consisting of three cells, i.e. a 7L multilevel inverter. As the system in this work provides power in a single-phase system, the current in the battery has a ripple of 100Hz with a DC offset, described in Section 2 equation (2.8). By measuring this current and the voltage ripple in the battery caused by the battery parameters equivalent circuit, it is possible to obtain an estimation of the battery parameters as described in [110]. In such work, only the internal resistance (IR) of the battery is estimated, which is typically estimated by a current pulse to the battery, measuring the output voltage, i.e. the DC-pulse technique [58]. By considering the DC-pulse technique for parameters extraction (explained in Section 2.6.1.1, this linear equivalent model would reflect only the behaviour of the voltage drop across the internal resistance (ΔV_0), omitting dynamical components added by the RC branches, as shown in Fig. 2.23, in which the IR is equivalent to the series resistance Rs.



Figure 2.23: Impedance Estimation - Linear model approximation. RC branches dynamical behaviour is neglected.

The internal resistance can be estimated by utilizing (2.34).

$$\hat{Z}(\Omega) = \frac{V_{batt}^{max} - V_{batt}^{min}}{I_{batt}^{max} - I_{batt}^{min}}$$
(2.34)

As explained in Section 2.6.1.1, the internal resistance is strongly dependent on the battery operating conditions. Therefore, the internal resistance estimation needs to be computed at similar conditions, i.e. at similar SOC, temperature, etc. The internal resistance can be utilized to estimate the SOH of a battery, as they are related by complex interactions [111]. After obtaining the IR estimation, the OCV can be estimated by utilizing (2.35) [110]. The drawback of this method, is that it would not reflect the degradation of a second-life battery, as the non-linear RC-branches in the performance model may become bigger and are not included in this technique.

$$\hat{OCV} = \bar{V}_{batt} - \bar{I}_{batt} \cdot \hat{Z} \tag{2.35}$$

This estimation of the OCV combined with the SOC estimation can be utilized to estimate the actual battery capacity.

The knowledge of the SOH and battery capacity estimation can be utilized in more complex control techniques in which the batteries with the lowest SOH are being used less in the long-term time scale. In such a way, the SOE can be balanced in the short-term with the proposed strategies shown before and a SOH balancing in the long-term operation. The implementation of the SOH into the control strategies was not included as it is out of the scope of this work.

Chapter 3

System Description

This chapter presents a general description of the system. First, the individual inverter is briefly presented. Then, the DC-link capacitor is explained. Third, as the output LC filter is given, the frequency response is analyzed. Finally, a grid side inductance is designed and explained. The final topology utilized is shown in Fig. 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Final Topology Utilized. Decentralized topology in a single-stage DC/AC.

The system consists of a three-cell CHB. Each H-Bridge is a three-phase IGBT module and has a DC-link capacitor as explained below. The DC-link voltages in the simulations can go up to 270 V, whereas in the laboratory can only go up to 120 V. The output of the CHB is connected to an LC filter, which was added a grid side inductance to avoid resonances. The system description and analysis is exposed below.

3.1 IGBT Module

The IGBT module utilized is the FS50R12KT4_B15 from Infineon [112]. The IGBT module utilized is a three-phase half-bridge power module, which can be utilized as a single-phase H-bridge by using two of the half-bridges and leaving the third one unconnected. The inverter is mounted on a printed circuit board (PCB), which is described in detail in Appendix A.

3.2 DC-Link Capacitor

Each individual H-Bridge in the CHB has a capacitor at its DC-link voltage input terminals. This capacitor smooths the current ripple, providing a DC current source, with an AC current on top, with double the fundamental frequency, as explained in Section 2.3. The voltage ripple can be set to a allowed maximum of 5% of the capacitor voltage. Then, utilizing (3.1) [113], [114]:

$$\Delta V_{cap} = \frac{Po}{\omega \cdot C \cdot V_c} \tag{3.1}$$

Where ΔV_{cap} is the capacitor voltage ripple, P_o is the average power injected to the load, ω is the fundamental frequency, i.e. 50Hz, V_c the capacitor peak to peak voltage ripple and C is the capacitor capacitance.

$$C_{dc} = \frac{P_o}{\omega \Delta V_c \cdot V_c} = \frac{P_o \,\mathrm{W}}{\omega 5\% V_c^2} \longrightarrow C_{dc} = \frac{600 \,\,\mathrm{[W]}}{2\pi 50 \,\,\mathrm{[rad/s]} \cdot 0.05 \cdot 150^2 \,\,\mathrm{[V^2]}} = 1.7mF \tag{3.2}$$

The PCB in which the DC side filter is mounted on has an equivalent capacitance of 680 μ F. An additional PCB has been designed and build to accomplish with the DC side filter requirements, as explained in Appendix A.

3.3 Output Filter Analysis

The output filter used at the AC side of the CHB is an LC filter, as shown in Fig. 3.2. The filter used is the FN5040-24-84 [115], which inductance value is $L_c = 4.8$ mH and capacitance value is $C_f = 5 \ \mu$ F. The cables for the connection have an omhic resistance of 1 m Ω and are shown in Fig. 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Single-phase LCL output filter diagram. Converter side inductance and capacitor are fixed. Grid side inductance can be determined.

The transfer function of the LC filter is expressed as in (3.3) [116].

$$H_{LC}(s) = \frac{sL_c + R}{s^2 C_f L_c + sC_f R + 1}$$
(3.3)

Substituting the values given for the LC filter, the bode plot of the frequency response is shown in Fig. 3.3. As can be seen, the resonance frequency is placed at $f_{res}^{LC} = 1$ kHz.



Figure 3.3: Bode diagram of the LC filter utilized in the laboratory. Resonance frequency at 1KHz.

3.3.1 Converter Side Inductance and Capacitor

The converter side inductance is connected between the output of the CHB and the terminals of the filter capacitor. This inductance is designed to limit the current ripple caused by the switching of the converter. To calculate minimum switching frequency that is needed, with the given converter side inductance (L_c) it is used (3.4) from [117], [118]. The maximum voltage which can be achieved in the DC side in the laboratory is 120 V, and the number of levels at CHB output terminals is m = 7, then:

$$\Delta i_{max} = \frac{V_{dc}^{cell}}{4(m-1)f_{sw}L_c} \longrightarrow f_{sw} = \frac{V_{dc}^{cell}}{4(m-1)L_c\Delta i_{max}}$$
(3.4)

In that way, substituting the values taken to be implemented in the laboratory, allowing a current ripple in the converter side output to be 10% of the rated current, it can be obtained the minimum switching frequency.

$$f_{sw} = \frac{120 \text{ V}}{4(7-1) \cdot 4.8 \cdot 10^{-3} \text{ mH} \cdot 10 \% \cdot 10 \text{ A}} \approx 1 \text{ kHz}$$
(3.5)

The minimum switching frequency which needs to be applied to the PWM modulation technique is of 1kHz. It is finally utilized a switching frequency of 2.8kHz, which results in a effective switching frequency of $2H \cdot 2.8$ kHz = 16.8 kHz, as explained by (2.17) in Section 2.

After the converter side inductance, the grid side capacitor is placed. The value for this capacitance limits the reactive power production [114]. From the datasheet for the FN-5040 LC filter, the nominal capacitance is of 5 μ F. Due to hardware limitations, the output of the LCL filter is connected to a grid simulator with an amplitude of half the grid voltage, i.e. 115V. Utilizing (3.6), it can be seen that the power factor variation seen from the grid is less than 0.05%.

$$C_f = \Delta C_{g,nom} \frac{Po}{\omega V_{c,g}} \longrightarrow \Delta C_{g,nom} = C_g \frac{\omega V_{cg}}{P_o} \longrightarrow \Delta C_{g,nom} = 5 \ [\mu F] \cdot \frac{2\pi 50 \ [rad/s] \cdot 115 \ [V]}{3 \cdot 180 \ [W]} = 0.033\%$$

$$(3.6)$$

3.3.2 Grid Side Inductance

When utilizing the above described filter in the laboratory, connected to a grid simulator, which is a conmutated DC supply, it was found that the device created resonances with the system, therefore, a grid side inductance was designed to move the resonance frequencies towards greater frequencies. Then, the original LC filter becomes now an LCL filter, which is shown in Fig. 3.4



Figure 3.4: Single-phase LCL output filter diagram. Converter side inductance and capacitor are fixed. Grid side inductance is designed.

From Fig. 3.4, the transfer function of the filter can be studied. The total impedance of the filter in the Laplace domain can be expressed as in (3.7) [117], [119], when the grid current and voltage are measured.

$$H(s) = \frac{i_g}{v_s} = \frac{1}{L_c C_f L_g s^3 + s^2 (L_c R C_f + R C_f L_g) + (R^2 C_f + L_c + L_g)s + 2R}$$
(3.7)

and for $H(s) = i_s/v_s$ as in (3.8), when the converter current and grid voltage are measured:

$$H(s) = \frac{i_s}{v_s} = \frac{L_g C_f s^2 + s C_f R + 1}{L_c C_f L_g s^3 + s^2 (L_c R C_f + R C_f L_g) + (R^2 C_f + L_c + L_g) s + 2R}$$
(3.8)

The grid side inductance needs to be determined to accomplish with grid quality requirements and avoid undesired resonances in the system.

To avoid resonance, the resonance frequency of the LCL filter needs to be within the range [117], [119]:

$$10 \cdot f_{grid} \le f_{res} \le 0.5 f_{sw} \longrightarrow 500 Hz \le f_{res} \le 8.4 kHz \tag{3.9}$$

and given (3.10) [1]:

$$f_{res}^2 = \frac{1}{4\pi^2} \frac{1}{L_g C_f} \cdot \frac{L_g + L_c}{L_c}$$
(3.10)

Then, extracting L_g from (3.10) yields to:

$$L_g = \frac{L_c}{4\pi^2 f_{res}^2 C_f L_c - 1}$$
(3.11)

Then the grid inductance can be chosen between the limits expressed in (3.9) by placing $L_c = 4.8$ mH and $C_f = 5 \mu$ F.

$$L_q \ge 0.08 \text{ mH} \tag{3.12}$$

The filtering behavior is shown in the bode diagram in Fig. 3.5. The grid side inductance placed in the laboratory has a value of 1 mH.



Figure 3.5: LCL Bode diagram. The resonance frequency is at 2.4kHz and the effective switching frequency is at 16.8kHz.

As seen, the resonance frequency has moved from 1 kHz to 2.4 kHz and the resonances where avoided when connecting to the grid simulator. Further, the switching frequency is far from the effective switching frequency, i.e. 16.8 kHz.

Chapter 4

Control of the Cascaded H-Bridge

This chapter will focus on the control techniques and methods used to control the system. First, the topology is shown and the chosen control scheme is described. Then, the current control loop is explained and analyzed compared to standards and literature. The phase-locked-loop is justified with several tests. Once these stages are completed, the battery energy management system is explained by showing a proposed active balancing technique and three strategies to operate the system, followed by simulation results to verify the performance. Lastly, an impedance spectroscopy estimation technique is proposed, however as it is out of the scope of this project, no final conclusions could be assessed.

4.1 Control Scheme Description

As described in Section 2, there exist many ways for interfacing the batteries with the power grid or load. The one used in this project is shown in Fig. 4.1. Different control methods have been proposed to operate the system [1], [13], [15], [16], [18], [120]–[123]. The control method selected to operate such systems is based on the instantaneous power theory (IPT) [1], [29]. The proposed control method can be seen in Fig. 4.2, which shows the final topology utilized in the project. This control method allows to independently control the active and reactive power injection or absorption from the grid. Typically, it provides a unity power factor in the injected power. The grid demands a specific power. This power is translated to a current reference in the output LCL filter, so the converter supplies such current. The voltage across the inductance is controlled to supply such current through the converter side inductance. This voltage across the inductance is produced by the difference between the output CHB voltage and the capacitor voltage of the LCL filter, which is approximately the same as the grid voltage. If the current to be controlled is the load current, then the active and reactive power is handled directly with the IPT. Suppose the converter side inductance current is the one to be controlled. In that case, it is needed to compensate for the active and reactive power consumed and produced by the LCL filter to inject the reference current into the load with the commanded power factor [124]. In this work, it has been assumed that the LCL filter behaves approximately equal to an L filter which is value is the sum of the converter side inductance and the grid side inductance, as explained in the introduction of Chapter 12 in [1]. The output CHB voltage is built up of the sum of the output of each independent H-Bridge converter. Therefore, the voltage reference across the inductance will be split across the H-Bridges converters, depending on different characteristics, summed up in the BEMS unit.



Figure 4.1: Decentralized battery connection in a single stage. Batteries are modelled with a single RC stage and a series resistance. An LCL filter is utilized to interface the CHB with the load and grid.



Figure 4.2: Control method based on the instantaneous power theory. One PR Controller is utilized to control the output AC current.

The control scheme shown in Fig. 4.2 is described now. The active and reactive power inputs are provided to the system. The grid voltage is forwarded to the quadrature signal generator to obtain the $\alpha\beta$ voltage components. This fours signals, i.e. P^* , Q^* , V_{α} and V_{β} , are computed in the IPT block to obtain the current references. This work is based on a single-phase system, i.e. only the α component is utilized. The current reference is subtracted from the real measured current and fed to the resonant controller block.

The output is the reference voltage that must be applied to the filter to obtain the reference current. The commanded converter side voltage is obtained by adding the grid side voltage. The commanded converter voltage is then divided by the individual DC-link voltages of the CHB to obtain the modulation signals. These modulation signals are modified by the power distribution factors g_n to distribute the power among the cells according to the strategies that will be later explained. Finally, the modified modulation signals m_n are forwarded to the PS-PWM technique utilized in this project to switch the H-Bridges of the CHB. The detailed steps in the control system are elaborated below. The inputs to the system are the power references, which are transformed to currents references by utilizing the IPT matrices [125]:

$$\begin{bmatrix} P \\ Q \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} v_{\alpha} & v_{\beta} \\ -v_{\beta} & v_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} i_{\alpha} \\ i_{\beta} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.1)

Which then, isolating i_{α} and i_{β} yields to:

$$\begin{bmatrix} i_{\alpha} \\ i_{\beta} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{v_{\alpha}^2 + v_{\beta}^2} \begin{bmatrix} v_{\alpha} & -v_{\beta} \\ v_{\beta} & v_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} P \\ Q \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.2)

4.1.1 Current Control Loop and PLL

Regarding the **PR current controller**, the ideal PR controller block diagram is shown in Fig. 4.3. Therefore, the transfer function can be obtained as in (4.3) [126]–[128].



Figure 4.3: Block diagram of a non-ideal PR controller. The cut-off frequency ω_c avoids infinite gain at fundamental frequency ω_0 .

$$C_{PR}(s) = K_p + \frac{2K_i s}{s^2 + \omega_0^2}$$
(4.3)

As can be seen in Fig. 4.4, at the fundamental frequency, a very high gain is produced. Therefore, a non-ideal PR controller can be applied, which transfer function is (4.4):

$$G_{PR}(s) = K_p + \frac{2K_i\omega_c s}{s^2 + 2\omega_c s + \omega_0^2}$$
(4.4)

In which ω_c and ω_0 are the cut-off frequency and fundamental frequency of the controller. The bode diagram of the system for both controllers can be observed in Fig. 4.4. Two different cut-off frequencies have been investigated. The cut-off frequency is a trade-off between steady-state tracking error and the sensitivity of the system against frequency deviations [129]. In this work, the cut-off frequency has been selected to be 2 Hz, which is in the typical range between 5-15 rad/s [130].



Ideal and Non-ideal PR Bode Response

Figure 4.4: PR controller - Bode Diagram

The controller is then discretized using the Tustin method, which is proven in the literature to have better performance [131] with a sampling time of $Ts = 40 \ \mu s$ or 25 kHz yielding to the transfer function $G_{PR}(z)$ (4.5).

$$G_{PR}(z) = 10^{-4} \cdot \frac{5.02 \cdot z - 5.02}{z^2 - 1.999 \cdot z + 0.999 \cdot z}.$$
(4.5)

The system PR parameters have been tune by fitting the parameters in the block diagram shown in Fig. 4.5. A delay block has been implemented to emulate the computation time (or PWM delay [132]) with the sampling time explained before, i.e. $Ts = 40 \ \mu$ s, represented by $G_d(s)$ in Fig. 4.5 as:

$$G_d(s) = \frac{1}{1 + 1.5T_d s}$$
(4.6)



Figure 4.5: PR controller - Controller Block Diagram. The PR controller, computation delay and the LCL filter plant connected in series. The measured current is then fed-back and subtracted to the reference current.

The parameters are tuned to obtain an overshoot of less than 5% against step changes in the measured current, with the optimal damping factor of $\zeta = 1/\sqrt{2}$ [130]. The settling time is less than 5 ms, i.e. the error is less than 5% in less than one-fourth of a fundamental cycle. As explained at the beginning of the chapter, it can be assumed that the capacitance in the LCL filter has a neglectable effect on the frequency response of the filter. Therefore, the PR parameter tuning can be made considering the converter- and grid-side inductances and the cables resistances added together. Therefore, the open-loop transfer function obtained from Fig. 4.5 is shown in (4.7).

$$G_{OL}(s) = \left(K_p + \frac{2K_i\omega_c s}{s^2 + 2\omega_c s + \omega_0^2}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{1 + 1.5T_d s} \cdot \frac{1}{R_c + R_g + (L_c + L_g)s}$$
(4.7)

Then, it has been obtained that for a $K_p = 48$ and a $K_i = 2000$, the phase margin is around 42°, being the range typically $30^\circ \leq PM \leq 60^\circ$ [133]. With this parameters which ensure stable operation, the overshoot in a step response is approximately 5% with a 5% settling time of less than 2 ms. The theoretical step response in continuous time domain of the resonant controller is shown in Fig. 4.6



Figure 4.6: PR controller - Step Response Diagram Theoretically

The response of the resonant controller in the simulations is shown in Fig. 4.7. It should be noted that in the simulations, the LCL filter is placed with the capacitor and is implemented in discrete time domain, which makes a slightly difference with the theoretical waveform obtained in Fig. 4.6. As can be seen in Fig. 4.7, the overshoot is less than 5% against a step change. The THD is measured to be 2.68% in simulations, below the limit of 4.5% for the first 40 harmonics, as specified in the danish grid code for battery plants connection [134].



Figure 4.7: PR Controller - Simulated currents waveform response

Further, a THD analysis has being carried out, and is shown in Fig. 4.8. This harmonic indices accomplish with the Danish regulation for grid connection of battery plants [134].



Figure 4.8: PR Controller - Currents waveform response THD analysis

After the PR controller tuning is performed, the voltage reference across the inductance is obtained. The grid voltage is then summed to compute the converter output voltage reference. The connection to the grid needs to implement a phase-locked-loop (PLL). The PLL implemented is designed based on the second-order generalized integrator (SOGI) technique [135]. A simpler implementation of the SOGI-PLL, called the Frequency-Fixed SOGI-PLL (FFSOGI-PLL) is carried out [136]. The block diagram of a FFSOGI System is shown in Fig. 4.9. The parameters for the FFSOGI are calculated in Appendix C. The damping factor K = 2, and for the PI block $K_P = 0.5$ and $K_I = 20$.



Figure 4.9: Block Diagram of a conventional FFSOGI-PLL



PLL RESPONSE

Figure 4.10: PLL controller response against fast changes in amplitude, frequency and phase angle. The designed PLL rejects disturbances

The PLL response is shown in Fig. 4.10. The PLL performance has been tested with voltage, frequency and phase shift step changes. First, the grid voltage is 230 V and 50 Hz. Then, a step change of -30 V, -3 Hz,+2 Hz and -40° in the amplitude, frequency and phase angle are applied. The response is shown in Fig. 4.10. The same experiments were carried out as in [135]. The steady-state following reference frequency is achieved in each case in less than 2.5 fundamental cycles, proving disturbances rejection and robust performance of the PLL response.

4.2 Battery Energy Management System

This section introduces the different battery management techniques proposed. At first, assumptions and previous information are detailed to set the basis of the later proposed strategies. Then, the active balancing technique proposed is described. Finally, three control strategies are exposed.

One main utilization for second-life battery systems could be either for residential applications or to support the grid. In both cases, BESS can be utilized to supply the power required when other energy sources are limited, e.g. PV systems.

The utilization of second-life batteries has the drawback of different initial conditions, i.e. rated voltage, capacity, SOH, etc [137]. In the literature, it is mainly proposed to apply SOC balancing algorithms [138], [139]. Also, specifically for second-life battery systems applications as in [110]. In this work, it is of most interest the State of Energy (SOE) of each battery. Therefore, strategies based on the energy remaining are mainly proposed.

The principle of operation is now presented.

- 1. Principles of Operation
 - The CHB needs to deliver the power requested by the grid, if possible.
 - The power can be distributed among the cells.
- 2. Constraints
 - The DC input voltage to the CHB needs to be higher than a certain value to inject power to the grid.
 - The SOC of each battery needs to be within a lower and upper limits, i.e., SOC_l, SOC_u

The power is requested from the grid. The BEMS needs to distribute the commanded power for each cell, taking into account different parameters. The RMS output voltage of the CHB needs to be higher than a specific limit when connecting to the grid to inject power. As the SOC is directly related to the OCV of the batteries. The SOC can be adjusted by adequately charging and discharging the batteries and, therefore, the input DC-link voltage to the CHB. An active balancing technique has been proposed to recirculate current among the cells so that (4.8) is fulfilled.

$$\sum_{k=1}^{h} V_{batt}^{k} \ge V_{lim} \tag{4.8}$$

Being $h \leq n$ the number of batteries that can be connected to deliver power out of the total n batteries.

In this work, some assumptions are made to narrow the project's scope. It is assumed that the power losses across the filters and converters are neglected compared to the power level of the demand, therefore:

$$P_{out} = P_{in} \tag{4.9}$$

The input power to the system is calculated as the sum of power provided by the n individual battery modules:

$$P_{in} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} P_k \tag{4.10}$$

The power delivered by each individual cell is calculated as:

$$P_k = i_k \cdot V_{batt,k} \tag{4.11}$$

Furthermore, as explained in Section 2.6.1.1, the OCV is strongly dependent on the SOC, i.e. $OCV_k = f(SOC_k)$, and

$$SOC_k(t) = SOC_{0,k}(t) \pm \frac{1}{C_k} \int_{t_0}^t i_k(\tau) d\tau$$
 (4.12)

and solving the integral,

$$SOC_k(t) = SOC_{0,k}(t) \pm \frac{\Delta t \cdot i_k(t) \cdot \eta_k}{C_k}$$
(4.13)

Being η the Ampere-Hour counting efficiency and C_k the battery capacity. It is assumed that $\eta = 1$ and that the battery capacity is different to each other with a difference of 20% to emulate second-life batteries with different SOH or battery suppliers [137], [140].

From a practical point of view, capacity and current delivered by the batteries may become less important to the amount of power remaining in the battery and the power delivered. Therefore, the State of Energy (SOE) is defined as:

$$SOE(t) = SOE(t_0) \pm \frac{1}{E_N} \int_{t_0}^t P(\tau) d\tau$$
 (4.14)

In which SOE(t) is the SOE at a specific moment in time and $SOE(t_0)$ is the initial SOE; E_N is the nominal energy capacity ([Wh]), and P is the power delivered by the battery. It should be noticed that the value of P may change over time. If the battery current is kept to be positive constant, the power delivered will decrease over time as the battery voltage will decrease with the SOC of the battery. Otherwise, the current needs to be increased to keep the battery delivery power constant. In this project, as the working points in the SOC curve are between 80% to 20-30%, it is assumed that the battery terminal voltage does not change significantly. Therefore the power does not decrease significantly over time and no further actions need to be taken. If all batteries in the system deliver the same amount of power, not taking into account the actual SOE, the batteries with less energy will discharge faster than the ones with greater energy remaining, as can be seen in Fig. 4.11a. In this way, the DC-link voltage supplying the CHB can become less than the limit.

The batteries with a larger amount of energy remaining are utilized more than the ones with less energy remaining, as illustrated in Fig. 4.11b. It is proposed in [141], [142] that one method to operate the system could be utilizing LS-PWM, by shifting the carriers of the PWM modulator appropriately to discharge the more charged batteries, taking advantage of the uneven power distribution inherent in the LS-PWM, as explained in Section 2.5.



Figure 4.11: Battery discharging dependent on SOE and capacity visual representation

The variable which is utilized to drive the cells in the CHB is the modulation signal. The BEMS unit is responsible for adjusting the modulation signals with a power distribution factor (also called "gains" for simplicity) to distribute the power among the cells efficiently. Therefore, the modulation index for each H-Bridge converter in the CHB can be defined as:

$$m_k = \frac{V_L^{ref} \cdot g_k}{V_{c,k}} \tag{4.15}$$

In which m_k is the final modulation index driving the PWM for the converter k, g_k is the gain related to BEMS Strategy utilized, and $V_{c,k}$ is the input DC voltage to the H-Bridge k. It is proposed in the literature to obtain such gain by considering the SOC and the power delivered by each battery module [120]–[122].

4.2.1 Active Balancing Technique

An active balancing technique has also been implemented. In commercial applications, it is recommended to utilize the battery in the mid-SOC range, from 20% to 80% of the SOC [143]. Further, as described before, in applications where the DC-link voltage is critical, being able to modify the SOC of a battery widens the control possibilities. Then, if the batteries can still reach the condition (4.8), it is still possible to provide power to the grid. If the DC-link voltage built up with only some batteries is higher than a specific limit, it is possible to utilize those batteries to charge those not used. The battery charged, i.e. the battery that has reached the end of the mid-SOC range, increases the OCV, and, therefore, returns to the mid-SOC range, as illustrated in Fig. 4.12. The process active balancing process is carried out by modifying the modulation signals driving each cell of the CHB. Fig. 4.13 shows a diagram of the active balancing technique process.



Figure 4.12: Exemplification of active balancing technique in a three-battery system. Battery 3 returns to the mid-SOC range after being charged from batteries one and two.



Figure 4.13: Schematic Active Balancing Technique. In the discharge process modulation signals are in phase. In the charge process the modulation signal of the battery to be charged is reversed. Only P states for positive current are shown.

The current controller output a voltage reference needed to obtain the reference current in the inductance. This voltage reference is then shared across the cells producing the modulation signals. These modulation signals can have different amplitudes depending on the DC-link voltages of each cell, but all are in phase. Therefore, by reversing the modulation signals of the HB connected to the battery to be charged, it is possible to charge and discharge the batteries independently.

Then, two new variables are presented for the rate of charge-discharge of the batteries, R_{ch} and R_{dch} , respectively, depending on the excess of voltage available in the most charged batteries.

$$\begin{cases} R_{ch} = -\frac{\sum_{k=1}^{h} V_{c,k} - V_{lim}}{V_{lim}} \\ R_{dch} = \frac{1 + R_{ch}}{h} \end{cases}$$
(4.16)

By utilizing (4.16), the remaining voltage available in the h batteries, which can still inject power to the load, is used to charge the remaining batteries, i.e. k - h batteries. The gain driving each cell in the CHB is multiplied by the rate of charge and discharge in (4.16). Figure 4.14 shows the output modulation signals when all cells have the same input DC-link voltage of 120V and a DC voltage limit of 200V, which utilizing (4.16) yields to a charge rate factor of $R_{ch} = -0.2$ for one battery and a discharge rate factor of $R_{dch} = 0.6$. This is later proven in the laboratory, as shown in Section 5.4.



Figure 4.14: Active Balancing Technique - Modulation signals in the balancing process. When all cells discharge, the modulation index is equally among the cells. When one of the cells is charging, the modulation index is inverse and decreased in amplitude and the rest increase the amplitude so the sum is equal to one.

The amplitude of the modulation signals when recirculating current needs to be adjusted in order not to distort the output current quality greater than certain limits. The quality of the output voltage is reduced because of the reduced levels when reversing the modulation signal of the charged battery. For the modulation signals described by Fig. 4.14, the voltage THD at the output of the converter has increased from 50% to 85%. In Fig. 4.13, the number of levels is reduced from seven level in Fig. 4.13a to five level in Fig. 4.13b. Taking into consideration Fig. 2.15 in Section 2.5.3, in which it was shown that the THD is greatly reduced with the increased number of levels, this technique could be more beneficial in high multilevel systems, where reducing the number of levels does not affect as much as in lower levels systems. A balance between charging-discharging rate and output quality has not being carried out in this work. Further, this technique reflects the advantages of utilizing distributed power electronics for battery energy storage systems, as each battery can be utilized independently.

4.2.2 System Downscale

The active balancing technique is implemented in the simulations in the following proposed strategies. Active balancing has not been proven for all cells in laboratory work due to hardware limitations. When simulating the system of three batteries, the initial conditions are shown in Table 4.1.

Battery	Capacity [Ah]	Initial SOC [%]	Initial SOE [%]
1 (Top Battery)	1.2	80	80
2 (Middle Battery)	1.0	75	75
3 (Bottom Battery)	0.8	70	70

Table 4.1: Batteries simulation conditions

As explained before, EV second-life batteries can have very different rated voltage, capacity and SOH. These batteries can have a capacity of around 120Ah (taking as an example the BMW i3 Rex model [144]). As can be seen in Table 4.1, batteries are tested for capacities around 1Ah, as the main purpose of this work is to test and evaluate the performance of the proposed strategies. Further, the simulations presented for the strategies proposed are described in Fig. 4.15. The input OCV is the one as shown Fig. 2.20 for the battery pack voltage.



Figure 4.15: Simulation generic description for the simulations carried out in the following proposed strategies

Figure 4.15 describes a generic experiment in which first the system begins with null power delivery. Then, the discharge process starts. When one battery reaches the SOC limit, it is charged utilizing the active balancing technique described in Section 4.2.1. Then, when the batteries are discharged again, and it is no longer possible to deliver power, the system is set to an idle state in which no power is delivered nor requested. Finally batteries are charged from the grid. In the charge process, in the simulations, all batteries are charged with the same amount of power.

4.2.3 BEMS Strategies Proposed

The required power to inject into the load or grid is delivered by the input batteries connected to the CHB. Utilizing this topology makes it possible to distribute the power evenly or unevenly across the cells. Therefore, the possibilities for charging and discharging the batteries are widened. In this work, three strategies are proposed to operate the system. The first one is Equal Distribution (ED). This technique distributes the power equally among the cells. Secondly, the SOE Balancing (SOEB) technique is proposed to discharge the batteries unevenly, depending on their SOE levels. Finally, a SOE Sorting (SOES) algorithm is proposed based on an optimization problem and on the batteries SOE levels.

4.2.3.1 Strategy ED: Equal Distribution

The first strategy is based on the equal power distribution among the cells. A low computational burden is achieved by equalizing the power delivered by the batteries. Moreover, no need to estimate the SOE is required. On the other hand, it can lead to not optimal operation. The voltage reference to produce the output reference current is divided by the battery's cell voltage and then is split equally among the cells, as shown in Fig. 4.16. The gains, i.e. the power distribution factors, are equal to 1/k for a CHB with k cells; in this case, k = 3.



Figure 4.16: Strategy ED - Equal distribution power distribution factor schematic implementation.

First, it is shown in Fig. 4.17 and 4.18a the SOE and SOC of the three batteries. The total power reference is of 1800W, and as this strategy distributes equally the power among the cells, battery three is discharged the fastest, whereas battery one is discharged the slowest.

Further, it can also be seen that at time $t \approx 12$ min, battery three reaches the SOC lowest limit, i.e. 30% for these simulations, as shown in Fig. 4.18a. At that moment, the active balancing technique starts to act, charging battery three. Because they must supply the requested power to the grid as well as the power delivered to battery three, batteries one and two begin to deliver additional power. A steeper curve can see this in the SOE and the SOC curves of batteries one and two. Finally, when battery three SOC reaches one of the other batteries SOC, the charging process finishes, and the three batteries are then utilized to supply power to the grid. The power is delivered until $t \approx 17$ min. After that time, batteries can no longer deliver power to the grid, and the system waits until it is possible to charge the batteries from the grid. At t = 20 min, the system starts requesting power from the grid. Figure 4.17 and 4.18a show how the SOE and SOC start to increase from t = 20 min. Further, in the charging process happens the same as in the discharging process; battery three is charged the fastest, whereas battery one is charged the slowest, as the input power is distributed equally among the cells. Finally, Fig. 4.17 and 4.18a show one drawback of this technique: the smallest battery suffers more charged and discharged cycles between the upper and lower limit as it is discharged and charged faster. This repeated behaviour may decrease the SOH of battery three faster than for batteries one and two in prolonged operation over time.



Figure 4.17: Simulation - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOE

In Fig. 4.18b, it can be seen the power commanded to the system, first to deliver power from $t \approx 2min$ until batteries are completely discharged at $t \approx 17$ min. Then, at t = 20 min, the power reference is negative to charge the batteries.



Figure 4.18: Simulation - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOC and power distribution

4.2.3.2 Strategy SOEB: SOE Balancing

The second BEMS strategy is based on utilizing different state estimation parameters to operate the system. Two main sub-strategies arise, (1) SOE balancing and (2) SOC balancing. In this work, it is most important the SOE balancing. The power is distributed so that the batteries with the highest SOE are utilized more than the ones with least SOE. The power distribution is implemented as in Fig. 4.19.



Figure 4.19: Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing power distribution factors schematic implementation For a system with k cells, the gains or power distribution factors are calculated as in (4.17) in the discharging process.

$$g_k^{discharge}(SOE) = \frac{SOE_k^n(t)}{\sum_{k=1}^n SOE_k^n(t)}$$
(4.17)

For the charging process, it can be similarly expressed as in (4.18), which variation can also be found in [110], but which has not been included in the simulations.

$$g_k^{charge}(SOE) = \frac{(1 - SOE_k^n(t))}{\sum_{k=1}^n (1 - SOE_k^n(t))}$$
(4.18)

It should also be noted that the super-index n is utilized to accelerate the balancing process, as proposed in [145] for a SOC balancing algorithm. For the same difference in SOE among the cells, the greater the value of n, the greater the difference is magnified.

From (4.17), it can be deducted that in order not to have overmodulation, the sum of all gains needs to be equal to one. It can be seen in Fig. 4.20 that with an exponent of n = 1, the system is not able to balance the SOE among the cells. Compared to strategy ED before, it can be seen that, even though the same SOE is not achieved, batteries are discharged at a similar rate. Battery three reaches its lowest SOC limit at $t \approx 15$ min, i.e. 3 min after it did in the strategy ED. As in strategy ED explained before, battery three is charged with batteries one and two, due to the active balancing technique. Finally, the SOE is balanced at the very end of the discharge process, as all batteries reach the lowest limit at the same time. At t = 20 min, batteries are charged from the grid.



Figure 4.20: Simulation - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing n = 1 - SOE

Gains are computed continuously over time, causing the batteries to distribute the power continuously; as seen in Fig. 4.21b, battery one delivers most of the power and keeps increasing as the SOE is not balanced.



Figure 4.21: Simulation - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing n = 1 - SOC and power distribution

Furthermore, the differences in SOE have been computed to verify the balancing. It can be seen in Fig. 4.22 that the greater the value of n, the faster the balanced process is completed. It can be seen that the active balancing technique start at $t \approx 16$ min. Then, the difference in SOE is reduced, as one battery is charged will the others are discharged, approaching equal SOE. It should also be noted that, the final value at which the differences in SOE are constant, depends on how was the SOE levels when the system can no longer inject power to the grid, either because the SOC reached the limits or because the voltage in the DC side is no longer higher than the limit value.

Note that the sum of the differences in SOE is defined as:

$$\sum \Delta SOE = |SOE_1 - SOE_2| + |SOE_1 - SOE_3| + |SOE_2 - SOE_3|$$
(4.19)



Figure 4.22: Strategy SOES: Sum of Differences in State of Energy dependent on n.

4.2.3.3 Strategy SOES: SOE Sorting

The last control strategy for the BEMS is based on the principle that the grid request a certain amount of power for the longest time possible. This is of particular interest in residential applications to supply power to the house loads when, for example, the grid price is especially high at a certain moment in time. This strategy name has also been proposed by [146] simultaneously to this work, based on SOC balancing algorithms. In [141], [142], a sorting algorithm is presented, based on level-shifted PWM for SOC balancing taking advantage of the uneven power distribution inherent in the LS-PWM technique. In this work, a sorting algorithm is based on the battery's SOE with PS-PWM technique.

The following optimization problem can be formulated:

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{if} \qquad \sum_{k=1}^{n} V caps, k \qquad \leq V_{lim} \Longrightarrow g_{k} = 0, k = 1, \dots, n. \\ & \text{else} \{ \\ & \max_{g_{k}} \qquad t_{s}(g_{k}) \qquad = \sum_{k=1}^{n} g_{k} \cdot SOE_{k} \\ & \text{subject to} \qquad (4.20) \\ & \sum_{k=1}^{n} g_{k} \qquad = 1 \\ & g_{k} \qquad \leq 1, \ k = 1, \dots, n. \\ & \Delta g_{j,k} \qquad \leq \delta_{g}, \ j, k = 1, \dots, n, j \neq k. \end{aligned}$$

The gains will change by computing the above optimization problem because it will always utilize the battery with more remaining energy. It is shown in Fig. 4.23 how the implementation is carried out.



Figure 4.23: Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting power distribution factors schematic implementation for the discharging process. In the charging process, the same can be applied by subtituting 'max' by 'min'.

To reduce the computational burden, only once in a while the optimization problem is computed, i.e. the rate of updates in the power distribution factors can be limited. As the fundamental grid frequency is 50 Hz or 20 ms, the action period for the gain to be updated is 100 times bigger, that is, 2 s. This periodical action also reduces the number of step changes in the load. As none of the constraints is quadratic or cubic, the optimal solution will always be on the vertex of a parallelogram, as illustrated in Fig. 4.24.



Figure 4.24: Strategy SOES- SOE Sorting. Optimal Solutions to problem formulation in (4.20) jump between vertex of the given parallelogram.

The optimal point will jump between adjacent vertex if the sign of the difference between the remaining energy in the batteries changes. From a practical point of view, this strategy is equivalent to using the battery pack with the highest SOE and least the one with the lowest SOE; for example, having $g_1 = 0.6, g_2 = 0.2$ and $g_3 = 0.2$, accomplishing with the constraint expressed in the optimization problem. In fact, the sorting algorithm could be further explored to compute intermediate gains, e.g. $g_1 = 0.6, g_2 = 0.3$ and $g_3 = 0.1$, but has not being tested in this work. It is shown in Fig. 4.25 that this strategy effectively balances the SOE among the batteries. The simulation presented here is modelled by applying a gain of g = 0.6 to the module with the highest SOE and g = 0.2 to the others, accomplishing the constraint in the problem formulation.



Figure 4.25: Simulation - Strategy SOEB - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOE

It can be seen in Fig. 4.26b that the power delivered by each battery changes when the gain changes. Therefore, this strategy has the drawback of stepping the power delivered and, consequently, the current in the batteries. Furthermore, it can be seen that the output power presents some distortion due to the step changes in the input power.



Figure 4.26: Laboratory - Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOC and power distribution

The different strategies proposed are summed up in Table 4.2 with their respective advantages and disadvantages.

Strategy	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages	
[ED] Equal Distribution	Distribute power to deliver equally among the cells, inde- pendent of any parameter	Simple to implement. Low computational burden.	Does not efficiently distribute power. Reduce the time bat- teries can deliver power.	
[SOEB] SOE Balancing	Continuously computing gains to achieve SOE bal- anced among the cells	Continuous update of power distribution factors. Depending on factor n, bal- ancing can be achieved faster or slower. Increase time sup- plying power.	More complex to implement. High computational burden.	
[SOES] SOE Sorting	Utilize greater the most charged battery	Effectively balance SOE among the cells. Increase time supplying power.	Step changes on current deliv- ered by cells. Medium computational bur- den. Not efficient with high num- bers of voltage levels. Output power can get dis- torted.	

Table 4.2: Overview - Strategies proposed

4.2.4 Impedance Determination

As explained in Section 2.6.1.4, the estimation of the battery parameters is very valuable for SOC and SOH estimation. The impedance determination is based on the measured battery voltage and current. It is shown in Section 2.6.1.4 that a proposed battery impedance estimation is based on a simplified linear model, but as discussed, it is not of great interest in second-life battery system, as it may not reflect the SOH degradation of the battery.

To solve this issue, it is more reliable to obtain a wide range of frequencies in the current and voltage measurements, to obtain a full view of the battery impedance estimation. A novel approach is proposed in this work. The idea relies on the distortion of the currents in the batteries by injecting a variable frequency signal into the modulation signals. The control technique implemented is shown in 4.27 based on the control scheme shown in Fig. 4.2. In principle, the modulation signals fundamental frequency is 50 Hz, which produces an AC current ripple of 100 Hz in the DC-link currents. By injecting a signal of frequency f_{EIS} to the modulation signals, the DC-link currents will be composed of a signal with frequencies of 50 Hz \pm 2f_{EIS}. By computing a Fast Fourier Transformation (FFT) of the measured DC-link current and voltage, the impedance (4.21) can be estimated.

$$Z_{bat}(j\omega) = \frac{V_{bat}(j\omega)}{I_{bat}(j\omega)}$$
(4.21)



Figure 4.27: Control method based on the instantaneous power theory. A variable frequency signal is injected to the modulation signals.

The injected signal to the modulation signals is shown in Fig. 4.28. The amplitude of the modulation signals needs to be low enough compared to the modulation index in order not to distort the output current waveform significantly.



Figure 4.28: Injected current reference frequencies on top of fundamental frequency.

It is shown in Fig. 4.29 the zoom view of the modulation signals at $f_{EIS} = 400$ Hz, i.e. in the time range between 7 and 8 seconds.



Figure 4.29: Simulation - Modulation signals after variable frequency signal injection - Zoom view at 400Hz.



Figure 4.30: Simulation - Battery currents and voltage with 400 Hz frequency injection. The amplitude and phase of the frequency of interest, the impedance spectroscopy can be estimated.

As can be seen, modulation signal m_1 has a fundamental frequency of 50 Hz, whereas m_2 and m_3 have frequencies of 50 Hz \pm 400 Hz on top, producing the currents and voltages in the DC-link shown in Fig. 4.30 which contains signals with frequencies of 100 Hz \pm 800 Hz.

The impedance can be estimated for the whole injected spectrum by applying an FFT analysis in each frequency range. The battery model utilized in this simulations is shown in Fig. 4.31, which parameters are taken from [52], omitting the effect of the SOC on the equivalent impedance parameters, as it is almost constant in the range 20%-80% of SOC, which is of main interest in this project. At very low frequencies, the injected signal can yield to inaccurate measurements, as the battery SOC will change over time, more significantly the smaller the injected signal frequency.



Figure 4.31: Injected current reference frequencies on top of fundamental frequency.

The impedance spectroscopy Nyquist plot shown in Fig. 4.32 shows the theoretical impedance values for frequencies between 1 mHz and 5 kHz. The values obtained from the simulations are not shown and left as future work. As can be seen, the Nyquist plot only shows one semielipse, as only a single RC branch in the battery model was implemented as explained in Section 2.6.1.4.



Figure 4.32: Impedance spectroscopy Nyquist plot. Frequencies vary from 5 kHz to 1 mHz. Only the semielipse corresponding to one RC-branch is obtained.
Chapter 5

Experimental Results

This chapter presents the resulting waveforms and data measured in the laboratory. First, the experimental setup is described. Secondly, fundamental experiments are shown to prove the seven-level output voltage, current control loop and PLL response. Then, different experiments are shown to prove the viability of the proposed control strategies with a passive load and a grid simulator at the CHB output. Later, the proposed active balancing technique is tested.

The laboratory setup is shown in Fig. 5.1. The setup was made at Aalborg university, department of AAU Energy, room PON105-3.119; a picture of the setup and a descriptive diagram can be seen in Fig. 5.1 and 5.2, respectively.



Figure 5.1: Laboratory - Picture of the setup. Three different cabinets where used to store the setup. Values for components and electrical diagram can be found in Fig. 5.2 and Table 5.1.



Figure 5.2: Laboratory - Schematic Setup. Four linear DC supplies for batteries one and two emulation. One battery simulator for battery three. Grid simulator or a passive resistor at the output can be placed.

The experimental setup data used in the laboratory is shown in Table 5.1.

Parameter	Value	Description
$V_{dc,max}^{HB1,2}$	60 V	Linear DC source Max. Voltage
$I_{dcmax}^{HB1,2}$	3 A	Linear DC source Max. Current
$V^{HB3}_{dc,max}$	600 V	Battery Simulator Max. DC Voltage
I_{dcmax}^{HB3}	± 120 A	Battery Simulator Max. DC Current
C_{dc}	$1.4 \mathrm{mF}$	Capacitor in the DC-link
L_c	4.8 mF	LCL Converter Side Inductance
C_{f}	$5 \ \mu F$	LCL Capacitor
L_g	$1 \mathrm{mF}$	LCL Grid Side Inductance
R _{load}	40 Ω	Passive Load Max. Resistance
f_{sw}	2.8 kHz	Switching Frequency
f_s	25 kHz	Sampling Frequency

Table 5.1: Hardware parameters

The CHB is controlled from a dSpace. The model is built and compiled utilizing Simulink[®]. The

individual converter's gate drivers are directed with a phase-shifted carrier PWM, and the comparison between modulation and carrier signals is made in the FPGA, described in Appendix B. It is shown in Fig. 5.3a the triangular waveforms and the modulation signals utilized to control the CHB. Two additional hardware components have been placed, shown in Fig. 5.2, i.e. two diodes in series with the linear DC voltage supplies, ensure that current cannot be injected into the DC supplies, which may damage the device. A resistor has been placed in series with the DC power supply. The resistor is used to reduce the current ripple and emulate the series resistance of the batteries.

The carrier frequency, i.e. the switching frequency is 2.8 kHz, and as PS-PWM is utilized, the effective switching frequency is 16.8 kHz, i.e. $2 \cdot H \cdot f_{sw}^{HB}$, being H the number of CHB modules, as described by (2.17). The sampling frequency is 25 kHz. The reference signal frequency, i.e. the fundamental frequency, is 50 Hz. The seven-level output voltage is shown in Fig. 5.3b, taken from the oscilloscope.



Figure 5.3: Laboratory - Carrier and modulation signals from dSpace and Seven Level Output Voltage measured in the oscilloscope

5.1 Current Control Loop and PLL

To asses and tune the PLL controller parameters, an input from a signal generator was connected to the dSpace. Then, this signal was scaled to simulate the grid voltage. The response of the PLL against step changes in amplitude, frequency and phase angle, is shown in Fig. 5.4. The obtained waveforms in the laboratory are similar to the designed and simulated response of the FFSOGI-PLL. The settling time against step changes is under 2.5 fundamental cycles.



Laboratory - PLL RESPONSE

Figure 5.4: Laboratory - PLL response. Step changes in voltage amplitude, frequency and phase shift has been applied to test the robust design.

Then, after testing the PLL response, the current controller is tested. The current waveforms are shown in Fig. 5.5. A rate limiter is implemented in the laboratory to achieve full current in less than 2 ms. As can be seen, the overshoot is less than 5% fitting the theoretical and simulating results shown in Section 4.1.1.



Figure 5.5: Laboratory - Current controller response

By importing the current signal to Simulink and performing THD analysis, the THD of the current is measured to be in the laboratory at around 2.7%, below the limit of 4.5% current THD for battery plants [134]. The FFT analysis of the current waveform is shown in Fig. 5.6. The harmonic content of the waveform accomplishes with the danish grid connection of battery plants [134].



Figure 5.6: Laboratory - FFT analysis of the current controller response. Obtained values are below the standard limits for battery plants connection [134].

Once the previous stages were completed, the strategies were tested. At first, strategies are tested without an active balancing technique. Further, the power is dissipated in a passive load. Finally, the power dissipated is 180 W to analyze the performance for a longer time.

5.2 Strategies Proposed - Passive Load

At first, strategies are tested connected to a passive load. Then, the resistance value can be changed to modify the amount of power delivered. The resistance has been set to around 3 Ω ; therefore, to have a peak current as in the simulations of around 11 A, the power reference is 180 W. The DC side voltage for all the cells is set to 120 V. In the worst-case scenario, if one battery needs to deliver all the power, the DC-link current would be 1.5 A on average, and it has been proven to stay within the DC source hardware limitations.

5.2.1 Strategy ED

The first strategy is based on equally distributing the power among the cells, regardless of the SOE level. It can be seen in Fig. 5.7 that the SOE and the SOC diverge in time due to the inherent unbalance in the battery parameters. The battery's initial SOE differs to emulate the practical behaviour of second-life batteries, as explained in Section 2.6.1.3. At first, the active balancing technique was not enabled. Therefore, as can be seen in Fig. 5.8b, power is distributed equally among the three cells. At $t \approx 63$ min, the power is distributed only between batteries one and two until $t \approx 83$ min when one battery is not able to deliver the power to the load. The output current THD is measured to be 2.7%.



Figure 5.7: Laboratory - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOE and SOC

It can be observed in Fig. 5.8b that the power is distributed equally among the cells. The sum of the input power from the cells is around 190 W, whereas the active output power is approximately 175 W. The efficiency of the system is approximately 92.1%. When only batteries one and two are delivering power, it can be seen that battery one delivers more power than battery two. This is due to slightly different input DC voltages set in the laboratory.



Figure 5.8: Laboratory - Strategy ED - Equal distribution - SOC and power distribution

5.2.2 Strategy SOEB

The second strategy is based on the SOE balancing among the cells. In such a way, the batteries will try to balance in time to achieve the same relative remaining energy capacity. The gains applied are obtained by utilizing (5.1).

$$g_k(SOE) = \frac{SOE_k^n(t)}{\sum_{k=1}^n SOE_k^n(t)}$$
(5.1)

First, it can be seen in Fig. 5.9 that the SOE is balanced during the operation when applying a factor n = 5. It can be seen that the three batteries are discharged at the same rate, achieving the SOC lowest limit at the approximately same time, as the SOE is balanced across the cells.



Figure 5.9: Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing n = 5 - SOE

It can be observed in Fig. 5.10b that the power delivered by each of the batteries does not experience steps or fast changes, but smooth increases or decreases in the power delivered. The power delivered by the biggest battery, i.e. battery one, is higher than the smallest battery, i.e. battery three, to have the same discharge rate, as seen in the figure. Further, Fig. 5.10b shows that at the beginning, when the batteries are very different in SOE, power distribution diverges more but converges to almost the same value when the SOE is balanced. The current THD is measured to be 3.1% at 11 A peak current. Further, it should be noted that with strategy SOEB, the CHB can output up to seven-level for longer time, compared to the strategy ED, when only batteries one and two deliver power, producing only a five-level output voltage.



Figure 5.10: Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing n = 5- SOC and power distributions

Furthermore, several experiments were carried out in the laboratory to verify the effectiveness of the factor n on the SOE balancing strategy. It has been proven with n = 1, 2, 3, 5, 10 and 50. It can be observed in Fig. 5.11 how the SOE balancing converges faster when n increases.



Figure 5.11: Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing - SOE with increasing values for factor n

Moreover, as seen in the simulations, when the factor n is too small, the balancing strategy cannot balance the system.

5.2.3 Strategy SOES

The third strategy is based on the SOE sorting among the cells. The higher the SOE a battery has, the more it is utilized. The optimization problem is made according to the following steps:

- 1. Sort the batteries as a function of the SOE
- 2. Apply a gain g_{max} to the highest SOE battery
- 3. Apply $(1 g_{max})/(h 1)$ to the other batteries, being h the number of batteries that can deliver power.

Furthermore, in order not to step change the power delivered by the cells every switching cycle, the sorting algorithm is performed and updated every 2 minutes. It can be observed in Fig. 5.12 that this strategy effectively balances the SOE among the cells, as in strategy SOEB, but has the drawback of step changing the power delivered by the cells. In short, strategy SOES (SOE Sorting) balances the SOE discretely, whereas strategy SOEB (SOE Balancing) balances the SOE continuously. The following experiments were carried out with $g_{max} = 0.6$. The current THD was 2.9% at a peak current of 11 A.



Figure 5.12: Laboratory - Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOE



Figure 5.13: Laboratory - Strategy SOES - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOC and power distributions

Furthermore, several experiments were carried out in the laboratory to verify the effectiveness of the gain g_{max} on the SOE sorting, where the gain of $g_{max} = 0.4, 0.5$, and 0.6 were applied. It can be observed in Fig. 5.14 how the SOE balancing converges faster when g_{max} increases. The greater g_{max} , the more distorted the output voltage will be. When $g_{max} = 1$, it can only output a 3L voltage, as only a single H-Bridge module will be used at a time.



Figure 5.14: Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing - SOE with increasing values for factor g_{max}

5.3 Strategies Proposed - Grid connection

Different experiments were carried out connected to a grid simulator to demonstrate the viability of supplying power to the grid. The grid simulator output voltage is set to a single-phase voltage of 115 V at 50 Hz. The grid simulator output voltage is lowered to half of the common single-phase grid voltage, i.e. 230 V due to the DC-link voltage limitation supplied to the CHB. The DC-link voltage maximum value is 360 V, i.e. 120 V per cell. In the figures below, only the SOE is shown, as seen before for the passive load experiments; the SOC and the SOE curves are very similar due to the equations utilized to obtain them. The experiments are carried out at a greater power reference to increase the output current amplitude without exceeding the hardware limitations.

5.3.1Strategy ED

First, the CHB is connected to the grid simulator with zero power reference. Then, a step change of 400 W is applied. It can be seen in Fig. 5.15a, as for the passive load, that the battery with the greatest capacity, i.e. battery one, is discharged with a lower rate than the smallest battery, i.e. battery three. The same can be seen when only batteries one and two deliver power. In that case, battery two discharges faster than battery one. It is shown in Fig. 5.15b that the modulation signals driving the CHB cells are equal for the three cells. Further, it can be seen how grid voltage and current are in phase, providing almost unity power factor. The power factor is calculated to be $cos(\phi) = 0.9963$, being ϕ the angle shift between grid current and voltage. The current THD is 3.5%.



Figure 5.15: Laboratory - Strategy ED - Grid Connection - Equal Distribution - SOE and Modulation Signals



(a) Power Delivered by CHB and supplied by batteries

Figure 5.16: Laboratory - Strategy ED - Grid Connection - Equal Distribution - Power, current and voltage

Strategy SOEB 5.3.2

Secondly, strategy SOEB - SOE Balancing was also tested. It can be seen in Fig. 5.17a that as the power delivered has increased; the system balances the SOE slower than when injecting less power to the passive load. Further, Fig. 5.17b shows how the modulation signals are varied with the gain obtained with the differences on the SOE, as shown in (5.1). The modulation signal m_1 has the greater amplitude, whereas m_3 has the smallest, proportional to the SOE of the batteries connected to their respective cells.



Figure 5.17: Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - Grid Connection - SOE Balancing n = 5 - SOE and Modulation Signals

These modulation signals dictates the uneven power distribution delivered, as in Fig. 5.18a. Battery one delivers most of the energy, whereas battery three delivers the least. The current THD has increased to 4.3%, which is beyond the limits [134].



Figure 5.18: Laboratory - Strategy SOEB - Grid Connection - SOE Balancing n = 5 Power, current and voltage

5.3.3 Strategy SOES

Finally, strategy SOES - SOE Sorting was tested in the laboratory. It can be observed in Fig. 5.19a that the SOE among the cells is balanced efficiently. Further, Fig. 5.19b shows how the modulation signals changes when at instant $t \approx 0.015s$, battery three has a greater SOE level than battery one $(t \approx 15 \text{ min in Fig 5.19a})$. Then, the modulation signal of battery three, i.e. m_3 , becomes the largest, whereas m_1 and m_2 have the same peak amplitude.



Figure 5.19: Laboratory - Strategy SOES - Grid Connection - SOE Sorting $g_{max}=0.6$ - SOE and Modulation Signals

As in the implementation when connecting to the passive load, Fig. 5.20a shows the main drawback of strategy SOES. When the SOE is balanced, and the batteries discharge at the same rate, the power delivered by the batteries step changes continuously. The number of times the step changes occur can be decreased by acting fewer times per unit of time, but with the drawback of causing divergence in the SOE among the cells. The THD of the current has been measured to 4.9% at a peak current of around 5 A.



(a) Power Delivered by CHB and supplied by batteries



Figure 5.20: Laboratory - Strategy SOES - Grid Connection - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ Power, current and voltage

Active Balancing Technique 5.4

The active balancing technique has been tested with the different strategies proposed in the laboratory. When tested on strategy ED - Equal Distribution, the active balancing technique could charge the third battery, i.e. the battery simulator, by supplying more power from the DC linear power supplies. However, when tested on Strategies SOEB - SOE Balancing and SOES - SOE Sorting, the SOC was balanced when all batteries reached the lowest limit, so the active balancing technique did not act. The SOE and SOC for strategy ED - Equal distribution is shown in Fig. 5.21.



Figure 5.21: Laboratory - Strategy SOES - Active Balancing Technique - SOE Sorting $g_{max} = 0.6$ - SOE and SOC

It can be seen in Fig. 5.21 that at a time around $63 \min(\text{point}(2))$ after starting delivering the power, battery three reaches the lowest limit of 20%. At that moment, batteries one and two start delivering more power to supply power to the load and charge battery three; that is why the SOC and the SOE increase in battery three and decrease with a stepper rate at the same time in the other batteries.

The charging process finishes when battery's three SOC is equal to one of the other batteries' SOC (point (3)). It is further shown in Fig. 5.22a that the power distribution factor for battery three is negative in the period when it's charging, whereas gains for batteries one and two need to increase to compensate for the charging of battery three. Finally, the modulation signals obtained by the active balancing technique are shown in Fig. 5.22b, in which it can be observed the 180° phase shift between batteries one and two with battery three.



Figure 5.22: Laboratory - Strategy ED - Active Balancing Technique - Power Distribution factors and Modulation Signals

As can be observed compared to Fig. 5.7, the active balancing technique does not increase significantly the amount of time the system can deliver power to the load. Still, this technique could be of greater interest in a system with a larger amount of cells. Further, when the DC-link voltage requirement is more strict, the DC-link voltage can be greatly controlled by utilising this active balancing technique.

Chapter 6

Summary and Conclusion

Different stages of the work's development have been evaluated, and the conclusion of each is summarized in this chapter.

The cascaded H-Bridge has been proven to be a suitable topology for distributed power electronics control. Furthermore, the preliminary study of the individual full-bridge topology has led the path to a novel control method for battery impedance spectroscopy. It has been shown that there exists a trade-off between power quality when choosing between phase-shift (PS-PWM), level-shift (LS-PWM) and level-shift with permutation (LSP-PWM) PWM techniques. The PS-PWM offers higher effective switching frequency, moving harmonics to higher frequencies. The concept of Weighted THD is introduced to analyze this effect. On the other hand, switching losses are higher for the PS-PWM than for level-shifted strategies. The LS-PWM method without permutation has uneven losses distribution among the cells, which can be solved by applying a LSP-PWM. In such a way, conduction losses are equalized among the cells. The LSP-PWM method performs better than the LS-PWM without permutation with the drawback of a higher computational burden. Then, battery energy storage systems were presented. Several State-of-Charge (SOC) and State-of-Health (SOH) estimation methods were reviewed. Further, the State-of-Energy (SOE) modelling method is presented and later on being utilized in the control strategies for the Battery Energy Management System (BEMS). Battery electromechanical impedance spectroscopy (EIS) method were also introduced.

To control output current, a proportional-resonant (PR) controller and a phase-locked-loop (PLL) have been designed and tested under disturbances, both in simulations and in the laboratory. It was demonstrated that the current control loop and the PLL fulfil the designed requirements and respond according to theory and simulations.

An active balancing technique is proposed in this work, where the modulation signal of the H-Bridge is regulated according to the battery that is required to be charged. As a result, it has been proven that it is possible to charge and discharge batteries independently, with the trade-off of reducing the output power quality. Three strategies were proposed to distribute the power among the cells when a commanded output power is given to the CHB. The first strategy is the Equal Distribution (ED); where all the batteries deliver the same amount of power regardless of the SOE of the batteries. This approach reduces the computational burden but also the performance of the system. The second strategy is the SOE Balancing where the controller distributes the power among the cells to balance the SOE among the cells. The time it takes to balance the cells can be controlled with the power distribution factor exponent *n*. This strategy has a significant computational burden and balances the SOE continuously. The last strategy is the SOE Sorting method. This strategy is based on an optimization problem which maximizes the availability of the system power delivery, by priority the utilization of the battery with the highest SOE. Effectively, this strategy balances the SOE of the batteries but produces step changes in the power input, which may affect the battery performance but has a lower computational burden that the SOE Balancing strategy. The strategies have been tested in simulations and laboratory to prove their viability connected to a passive load and a grid simulator.

An EIS technique is proposed for online battery impedance estimation. This technique allows the battery impedance estimation while supplying power to the grid. The impedance can be determined by distorting the DC-link currents and measuring the current and voltage. The distortion in the DC-link currents is produced by injecting a sinusoidal waveform with various frequencies in the modulation signal used in the PWM technique. Simulation results show that it is possible to distort the DC side currents and voltage, whereas the analysis and impedance spectroscopy has not been assessed in this work.

To conclude, the three problem statements are answered and covered:

• How to develop a method to diagnose the SOH of batteries using power converters

The EIS technique proposed can be utilized to estimate the battery impedance parameters but with limited accuracy and frequency range. The accuracy can be improved by injecting a wider range of frequencies, but with the limitation of the controller bandwidth and variation of SOC at low frequencies injection.

- How can the balancing of battery systems be achieved using distributed power electronics.
- Benchmark the proposed control strategies to be implemented for second-life batteries with distributed power electronics.

The active balancing technique is proven to work and charge the batteries when needed in the CHB. Among the three proposed strategies, the one that performed better was the SOE Balancing method as the time delivering power and producing a seven-level output voltage is increased, with the trade-off of highest computational burden. The second strategy which performed better is the SOE Sorting method, as the time delivering power and producing seven-level output voltage is increased but with the trade-off of step changes in the power delivered by the batteries. Finally, the strategy Equal Distribution delivers power and seven-level output voltage for the least time, but with the smallest computational burden. These exposed arguments can answer positively the problem statement questions stated at the beginning of the project.

Chapter 7

Future Work

This chapter suggests future research lines related to the study of distributed power electronics for second-life battery systems. The suggestions need to be seen as a continuation of this project report.

- In this work, a technique for impedance spectroscopy has been proposed. In contrast, it has not been possible to analyze and compute the battery impedance and make the appropriate Nyquist plot. A mathematical analysis of the current and voltage to obtain the battery impedance with different battery parameters and frequencies could prove the proposed technique.
- In this work, the distributed power control among the cells is carried out in the simulations with the same OCV-SOC curve and the same battery equivalent model. The system's dynamic performance can be assessed by testing different battery characteristics, e.g. different series resistance and number of series-connected cells.
- The active balancing technique could be further explored. A mathematical relationship between phase shift and amplitude of the modulation signals, charging and discharging rate and output quality could be assessed. Additionally, the active balancing technique is suggested to perform better in systems with more levels. By testing this technique further in MLIs, it could be proven.
- In this work, only active power has been considered. Further investigations could be assessed to check the system performance when reactive power is considered.
- This work utilizes a decentralized topology in a single-stage, i.e. omitting the DC/DC converter. Further investigations can be carried out to analyze the efficiency and performance of the system when utilizing a decentralized topology in a two-stage, i.e. DC/DC and DC/AC converter.

Bibliography

- [1] R. Teodorescu, M. Liserre, and P. Rodríguez, "Grid converters for photovoltaic and wind power systems," 2011.
- [2] P. T. Moseley and J. Garche, Electrochemical energy storage for renewable sources and grid balancing, English, 2015.
- [3] E. P. Chidanand Nikhil Mittal. (2021). "Renewable energy market outlook 2030," [Online]. Available: https://www.alliedmarketresearch.com/renewable-energy-market (visited on 11/04/2021).
- [4] U. E. I. Administration, "Annual energy outlook 2021 with projections to 2050," 2021. [Online]. Available: www.eia.gov.
- [5] "Solarpower europe (2021): Global market outlook for solar power 2021-2025,"
- [6] S. Xuewei, S. Xuefang, D. Wenqi, Z. Peng, J. Hongyan, W. Jinfang, and W. Yang, "Research on energy storage configuration method based on wind and solar volatility," in 2020 10th International Conference on Power and Energy Systems (ICPES), 2020, pp. 464–468. DOI: 10.1109/ICPES51309.2020.9349645.
- [7] V. Zyryanov, N. Kiryanova, I. Korotkov, G. Nesterenko, G. Prankevich, and I. Rudiuk, "Analysis of energy storage systems application in the russian and world electric power industry," in 2020 Ural Smart Energy Conference (USEC), 2020, pp. 106–109. DOI: 10.1109/USEC50097.
 2020.9281175.
- [8] M. Aneke and M. Wang, "Energy storage technologies and real life applications a state of the art review," *Applied Energy*, vol. 179, pp. 350–377, Oct. 2016. DOI: 10.1016/j.apenergy. 2016.06.097.
- K. Divya and J. Østergaard, "Battery energy storage technology for power systems—an overview," *Electric Power Systems Research*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 511–520, 2009, ISSN: 0378-7796. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsr.2008.09.017. [Online]. Available: https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378779608002642.
- [10] "International energy agency: Global ev outlook (2020), entering the decade of electric drive?,"
- [11] G. Lacey, G. Putrus, and A. Salim, "The use of second life electric vehicle batteries for grid support," in *Eurocon 2013*, 2013, pp. 1255–1261. DOI: 10.1109/EUROCON.2013.6625141.
- [12] D. Bazargan, S. Filizadeh, and A. Gole, "Stability analysis of converter-connected battery energy storage systems in the grid," in 2015 IEEE Power Energy Society General Meeting, 2015, pp. 1–1. DOI: 10.1109/PESGM.2015.7285635.
- S. Kouro, B. Wu, A. Moya, E. Villanueva, P. Correa, and J. Rodriguez, "Control of a cascaded h-bridge multilevel converter for grid connection of photovoltaic systems," in 2009 35th Annual Conference of IEEE Industrial Electronics, 2009, pp. 3976–3982. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2009. 5415332.

- [14] Y. Pan, A. Sangwongwanich, Y. Yang, X. Liu, M. Liserre, and F. Blaabjerg, "Flexible active power control of distributed photovoltaic systems with integrated battery using series converter configurations," *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, pp. 1–1, 2021. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2021.3134203.
- [15] Q. Zhang, "Control of pv battery hybrid system using cascaded h bridge converter," in 2017 IEEE 3rd International Future Energy Electronics Conference and ECCE Asia (IFEEC 2017 - ECCE Asia), 2017, pp. 2008–2012. DOI: 10.1109/IFEEC.2017.7992359.
- [16] E. Villanueva, P. Correa, J. Rodriguez, and M. Pacas, "Control of a single-phase cascaded h-bridge multilevel inverter for grid-connected photovoltaic systems," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 4399–4406, 2009. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2009.2029579.
- S. Rivera, S. Kouro, B. Wu, J. I. Leon, J. Rodriguez, and L. G. Franquelo, "Cascaded h-bridge multilevel converter multistring topology for large scale photovoltaic systems," in 2011 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics, 2011, pp. 1837–1844. DOI: 10.1109/ISIE. 2011.5984437.
- [18] Q. Zhang and K. Sun, "A flexible power control for pv-battery hybrid system using cascaded h-bridge converters," *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 2184–2195, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2018.2887002.
- [19] I. Trintis, S. Munk-Nielsen, and R. Teodorescu, "Single stage grid converters for battery energy storage," in 5th IET International Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives (PEMD 2010), 2010, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1049/cp.2010.0016.
- [20] Y. Pan, A. Sangwongwanich, Y. Yang, and F. Blaabjerg, "Distributed control of islanded series pv-battery-hybrid systems with low communication burden," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 10199–10213, 2021. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2021.3063111.
- [21] Stabl. (2022). "Inverter for battery storage from stabl energy," [Online]. Available: https://stabl.com/technology (visited on 05/05/2022).
- [22] Z. B. Omariba, L. Zhang, and D. Sun, "Review of battery cell balancing methodologies for optimizing battery pack performance in electric vehicles," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 129335– 129352, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2940090.
- [23] M. William, "Inverter topologies," U.S. Patent US3207974A, Sept. 1965.
- [24] N. Mohan, T. Undeland, and W. Robbins, Power Electronics: Converters, Applications, and Design, ser. Power Electronics: Converters, Applications, and Design. John Wiley & Sons, 2003, ISBN: 9788126510900. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.dk/books?id= oxR8vB2XjgIC.
- [25] M. Rashid, Power Electronics: Devices, Circuits, and Applications. Pearson, 2014, ISBN: 9780133125900.
 [Online]. Available: https://books.google.dk/books?id=KRD9mAEACAAJ.
- [26] B. Wu and M. Narimani, High-Power Converters and AC Drives, ser. IEEE Press Series on Power and Energy Systems. Wiley, 2017, ISBN: 9781119156031. [Online]. Available: https: //books.google.dk/books?id=2hWuDQAAQBAJ.
- [27] L. H. B. Richard H. Baker, "Electrec power converter," U.S. Patent US3867643A, Feb. 1975.

- [28] A. Dell'Aquila, M. Liserre, V. G. Monopoli, and P. Rotondo, "Overview of pi-based solutions for the control of dc buses of a single-phase h-bridge multilevel active rectifier," *Industry Applications, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 44, pp. 857–866, Jun. 2008. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2008.921405.
- [29] C. Sirico, R. Teodorescu, D. Sera, M. Coppola, P. Guerriero, D. Iannuzzi, and A. Dannier, "Pv module-level chb inverter with integrated battery energy storage system," *Energies*, vol. 12, no. 23, 2019, ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en12234601. [Online]. Available: https://www. mdpi.com/1996-1073/12/23/4601.
- [30] M. Angulo, P. Lezana, S. Kouro, J. Rodriguez, and B. Wu, "Level-shifted pwm for cascaded multilevel inverters with even power distribution," in 2007 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference, 2007, pp. 2373–2378. DOI: 10.1109/PESC.2007.4342382.
- [31] P. Sochor and H. Akagi, "Theoretical and experimental comparison between phase-shifted pwm and level-shifted pwm in a modular multilevel sdbc inverter for utility-scale photovoltaic applications," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 4695–4707, 2017. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2017.2704539.
- [32] I. Colak, E. Kabalci, and R. Bayindir, "Review of multilevel voltage source inverter topologies and control schemes," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 1114–1128, 2011, ISSN: 0196-8904. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2010.09.006. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196890410004085.
- [33] A. O. Arslan, M. Kurtoglu, F. Eroglu, and A. M. Vural, "Comparison of phase and level shifted switching methods for a three-phase modular multilevel converter," in 2018 5th International Conference on Electrical and Electronic Engineering (ICEEE), 2018, pp. 91–96. DOI: 10.1109/ ICEEE2.2018.8391307.
- H. Abdi, B. Mohammadi-ivatloo, S. Javadi, A. R. Khodaei, and E. Dehnavi, "Chapter 7 energy storage systems," in *Distributed Generation Systems*, G. Gharehpetian and S. M. Mousavi Agah, Eds., Butterworth-Heinemann, 2017, pp. 333–368, ISBN: 978-0-12-804208-3. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804208-3.00007-8. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128042083000078.
- [35] J. Rocabert, A. Luna, F. Blaabjerg, and P. Rodriguez, "Control of power converters in ac microgrids," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 4734–4749, 2012. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2012.2199334.
- [36] D. E. Olivares, A. Mehrizi-Sani, A. H. Etemadi, C. A. Cañizares, R. Iravani, M. Kazerani, A. H. Hajimiragha, O. Gomis-Bellmunt, M. Saeedifard, R. Palma-Behnke, G. A. Jimenez-Estevez, and N. D. Hatziargyriou, "Trends in microgrid control," *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 1905–1919, 2014. DOI: 10.1109/TSG.2013.2295514.
- [37] J. Lopes, C. Moreira, and A. Madureira, "Defining control strategies for microgrids islanded operation," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 916–924, 2006. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRS.2006.873018.
- [38] A. Castillo and D. F. Gayme, "Grid-scale energy storage applications in renewable energy integration: A survey," *Energy Conversion and Management*, vol. 87, pp. 885–894, 2014, ISSN:

0196-8904. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2014.07.063. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0196890414007018.

- [39] J. Carrasco, L. Franquelo, J. Bialasiewicz, E. Galvan, R. PortilloGuisado, M. Prats, J. Leon, and N. Moreno-Alfonso, "Power-electronic systems for the grid integration of renewable energy sources: A survey," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 1002–1016, 2006. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2006.878356.
- [40] "World energy resources e-storage: Shifting from cost to value wind and solar applications," 2016.
- [41] D. Soares, Z. Ren, S. B. Mujib, S. Mukherjee, C. Real, M. Anstine, H. Zanin, and G. Singh, "Additive manufacturing of electrochemical energy storage systems electrodes," *Advanced Energy* and Sustainability Research, vol. 2, p. 2000111, Mar. 2021. DOI: 10.1002/aesr.202000111.
- [42] T. B. Reddy and D. Linden, *Handbook of batteries*. McGraw-Hill Education, 2011.
- [43] S. Vazquez, S. M. Lukic, E. Galvan, L. G. Franquelo, and J. M. Carrasco, "Energy storage systems for transport and grid applications," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 57, no. 12, pp. 3881–3895, 2010. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2010.2076414.
- [44] X. Li and S. Wang, "Energy management and operational control methods for grid battery energy storage systems," *CSEE Journal of Power and Energy Systems*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 1026– 1040, 2021. DOI: 10.17775/CSEEJPES.2019.00160.
- [45] J. Sihvo, T. Roinila, and D.-I. Stroe, "Broadband impedance measurement of lithium-ion battery in the presence of nonlinear distortions," *Energies*, vol. 13, no. 10, 2020, ISSN: 1996-1073.
 DOI: 10.3390/en13102493. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/13/10/2493.
- [46] Electric vehicle database, https://ev-database.org/cheatsheet/useable-batterycapacity-electric-car, Accessed: 2022-04-21.
- [47] M. Coleman, W. Hurley, and C. Lee, "An improved battery characterization method using a two-pulse load test," *Energy Conversion, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 23, pp. 708–713, Jul. 2008. DOI: 10.1109/TEC.2007.914329.
- [48] J. Marchildon, M. L. Doumbia, and K. Agbossou, "Soc and soh characterisation of lead acid batteries," in *IECON 2015 - 41st Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2015, pp. 001 442–001 446. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2015.7392303.
- [49] Y. Kato, Z. Ogumi, and J. Martiún, Lithium-Ion Batteries: Overview, Simulation, and Diagnostics. Jenny Stanford Publishing, 2019, ISBN: 9780429521553. [Online]. Available: https: //books.google.dk/books?id=0J6RDwAAQBAJ.
- [50] S. Piller, M. Perrin, and A. Jossen, "Methods for state-of-charge determination and their applications," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 96, pp. 113–120, Jun. 2001. DOI: 10.1016/S0378-7753(01)00560-2.
- [51] A. Christensen and A. Adebusuyi, "Using on-board electrochemical impedance spectroscopy in battery management systems," in 2013 World Electric Vehicle Symposium and Exhibition (EVS27), 2013, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/EVS.2013.6914969.

- [52] M. Chen and G. Rincon-Mora, "Accurate electrical battery model capable of predicting runtime and i-v performance," *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 504–511, 2006. DOI: 10.1109/TEC.2006.874229.
- [53] S. Silva, B. Marciano Lopes, B. Cardoso Filho, R. Campana, and W. Boaventura, "Performance evaluation of pll algorithms for single-phase grid-connected systems," vol. 4, Nov. 2004, 2259– 2263 vol.4, ISBN: 0-7803-8486-5. DOI: 10.1109/IAS.2004.1348790.
- [54] O. Theliander, A. Kersten, M. Kuder, W. Han, E. A. Grunditz, and T. Thiringer, "Battery modeling and parameter extraction for drive cycle loss evaluation of a modular battery system for vehicles based on a cascaded h-bridge multilevel inverter," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 6968–6977, 2020. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2020.3026662.
- [55] L. Lam, P. Bauer, and E. Kelder, "A practical circuit-based model for li-ion battery cells in electric vehicle applications," in 2011 IEEE 33rd International Telecommunications Energy Conference (INTELEC), 2011, pp. 1–9. DOI: 10.1109/INTLEC.2011.6099803.
- [56] A. I. Pozna, K. M. Hangos, and A. Magyar, "Temperature dependent parameter estimation of electrical vehicle batteries," *Energies*, vol. 12, no. 19, 2019, ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en12193755. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/12/19/3755.
- [57] H. Karlsen, T. Dong, Z. Yang, and R. Carvalho, "Temperature-dependence in battery management systems for electric vehicles: Challenges, criteria, and solutions," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 142 203–142 213, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2943558.
- [58] D.-I. Stroe, M. Swierczynski, A.-I. Stroe, S. K. Kaer, and R. Teodorescu, "Lithium-ion battery power degradation modelling by electrochemical impedance spectroscopy," *IET Renewable Power Generation*, vol. 11, no. 9, pp. 1136–1141, 2017. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-rpg.2016.0958. eprint: https://ietresearch.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1049/iet-rpg.2016.0958. [Online]. Available: https://ietresearch.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1049/iet-rpg.2016.0958.
- [59] R. Zhang, B. Xia, B. Li, L. Cao, Y. Lai, W. Zheng, H. Wang, W. Wang, and M. Wang, "A study on the open circuit voltage and state of charge characterization of high capacity lithium-ion battery under different temperature," *Energies*, vol. 11, p. 2408, Sep. 2018. DOI: 10.3390/en11092408.
- [60] A.-I. Stroe, D.-I. Stroe, M. Swierczynski, R. Teodorescu, and S. K. Kær, "Lithium-ion battery dynamic model for wide range of operating conditions," in 2017 International Conference on Optimization of Electrical and Electronic Equipment (OPTIM) 2017 Intl Aegean Conference on Electrical Machines and Power Electronics (ACEMP), 2017, pp. 660–666. DOI: 10.1109/ OPTIM.2017.7975044.
- [61] M. Chen and G. Rincon-Mora, "Accurate electrical battery model capable of predicting runtime and i-v performance," *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 504–511, 2006. DOI: 10.1109/TEC.2006.874229.
- [62] D.-I. Stroe, "Lifetime models for lithium-ion batteries used in virtual power plant applications," 2014.

- [63] P. Hart, P. Kollmeyer, L. Juang, R. Lasseter, and T. Jahns, "Modeling of second-life batteries for use in a certs microgrid," in 2014 Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI), 2014, pp. 1–8. DOI: 10.1109/PECI.2014.6804554.
- [64] W.-Y. Chang, "The state of charge estimating methods for battery: A review," ISRN Applied Mathematics, vol. 2013, Jan. 2013. DOI: 10.1155/2013/953792.
- [65] M. Farag, "Lithium-ion batteries: Modelling and state of charge estimation," Ph.D. dissertation, Jun. 2013.
- [66] M. Dubarry, V. Svoboda, R. Hwu, and B. Y. Liaw, "Capacity loss in rechargeable lithium cells during cycle life testing: The importance of determining state-of-charge," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 174, no. 2, pp. 1121–1125, 2007, 13th International Meeting on Lithium Batteries, ISSN: 0378-7753. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2007.06.185. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378775307012797.
- [67] M. Einhorn, F. V. Conte, C. Kral, and J. Fleig, "A method for online capacity estimation of lithium ion battery cells using the state of charge and the transferred charge," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 736–741, 2012. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2011. 2180689.
- [68] W. Waag and D. U. Sauer, "Adaptive estimation of the electromotive force of the lithium-ion battery after current interruption for an accurate state-of-charge and capacity determination," *Applied Energy*, vol. 111, pp. 416–427, 2013, ISSN: 0306-2619. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.apenergy.2013.05.001. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0306261913003905.
- [69] H. Rahimi-Eichi and M.-Y. Chow, "Adaptive parameter identification and state-of-charge estimation of lithium-ion batteries," in *IECON 2012 - 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, 2012, pp. 4012–4017. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2012.6389248.
- [70] A. Cuadras and O. Kanoun, "Soc li-ion battery monitoring with impedance spectroscopy," in 2009 6th International Multi-Conference on Systems, Signals and Devices, 2009, pp. 1–5. DOI: 10.1109/SSD.2009.4956761.
- [71] S. Rodrigues, N. Munichandraiah, and A. Shukla, "A review of state-of-charge indication of batteries by means of a.c. impedance measurements," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 12–20, 2000, ISSN: 0378-7753. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7753(99) 00351-1. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378775399003511.
- [72] N. Yang, X. Zhang, and G. Li, "State of charge estimation for pulse discharge of a lifepo4 battery by a revised ah counting," *Electrochimica Acta*, vol. 151, pp. 63-71, 2015, ISSN: 0013-4686. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2014.11.011. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0013468614021884.
- [73] K. S. Ng, C.-S. Moo, Y.-P. Chen, and Y.-C. Hsieh, "Enhanced coulomb counting method for estimating state-of-charge and state-of-health of lithium-ion batteries," *Applied Energy*, vol. 86, no. 9, pp. 1506–1511, 2009, ISSN: 0306-2619. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.

2008.11.021. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0306261908003061.

- [74] G. L. Plett, "Extended kalman filtering for battery management systems of lipb-based hev battery packs: Part 3. state and parameter estimation," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 134, no. 2, pp. 277-292, 2004, ISSN: 0378-7753. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour. 2004.02.033. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378775304003611.
- [75] R. Xiong, H. He, F. Sun, X. Liu, and Z. Liu, "Model-based state of charge and peak power capability joint estimation of lithium-ion battery in plug-in hybrid electric vehicles," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 229, pp. 159–169, 2013, ISSN: 0378-7753. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jpowsour.2012.12.003. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0378775312018253.
- [76] H. He, R. Xiong, X. Zhang, F. Sun, and J. Fan, "State-of-charge estimation of the lithium-ion battery using an adaptive extended kalman filter based on an improved thevenin model," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1461–1469, 2011. DOI: 10.1109/TVT. 2011.2132812.
- [77] S. Lee, J. Kim, J. Lee, and B. Cho, "State-of-charge and capacity estimation of lithium-ion battery using a new open-circuit voltage versus state-of-charge," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 185, no. 2, pp. 1367–1373, 2008, ISSN: 0378-7753. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpowsour.2008.08.103. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0378775308017965.
- [78] I. Jokić, Ž. Zečević, and B. Krstajić, "State-of-charge estimation of lithium-ion batteries using extended kalman filter and unscented kalman filter," in 2018 23rd International Scientific-Professional Conference on Information Technology (IT), 2018, pp. 1–4. DOI: 10.1109/SPIT. 2018.8350462.
- [79] I. Baccouche, S. Jemmali, B. Manai, N. Omar, and N. ESSOUKRI BEN AMARA, "Improved ocv model of a li-ion nmc battery for online soc estimation using the extended kalman filter," *Energies*, vol. 10, p. 764, May 2017. DOI: 10.3390/en10060764.
- [80] B. Rzepka, S. Bischof, and T. Blank, "Implementing an extended kalman filter for soc estimation of a li-ion battery with hysteresis: A step-by-step guide," *Energies*, vol. 14, no. 13, 2021, ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en14133733. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/14/13/3733.
- [81] Z. Chen, Y. Fu, and C. C. Mi, "State of charge estimation of lithium-ion batteries in electric drive vehicles using extended kalman filtering," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 1020–1030, 2013. DOI: 10.1109/TVT.2012.2235474.
- [82] H.-T. Lin, T.-J. Liang, and S.-M. Chen, "Estimation of battery state of health using probabilistic neural network," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 679–685, 2013. DOI: 10.1109/TII.2012.2222650.

- [83] J. Meng, M. Ricco, G. Luo, M. Swierczynski, D.-I. Stroe, A.-I. Stroe, and R. Teodorescu, "An overview and comparison of online implementable soc estimation methods for lithium-ion battery," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 1583–1591, 2018. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2017.2775179.
- [84] Y. Zhou and X. Li, "Overview of lithium-ion battery soc estimation," in 2015 IEEE International Conference on Information and Automation, 2015, pp. 2454–2459. DOI: 10.1109/ ICInfA.2015.7279698.
- [85] C. Zhang, J. Jiang, L. Zhang, S. Liu, L. Wang, and P. C. Loh, "A generalized soc-ocv model for lithium-ion batteries and the soc estimation for lnmco battery," *Energies*, vol. 9, no. 11, 2016, ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en9110900. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/9/11/900.
- [86] A. Barai, T. Ashwin, C. Iraklis, A. McGordon, and P. Jennings, "Scale-up of lithium-ion battery model parameters from cell level to module level – identification of current issues," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 138, pp. 223–228, 2017, 2017 International Conference on Alternative Energy in Developing Countries and Emerging Economies, ISSN: 1876-6102. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.egypro.2017.10.154. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S187661021735097X.
- [87] E. Hossain, D. Murtaugh, J. Mody, H. M. R. Faruque, M. S. Haque Sunny, and N. Mohammad, "A comprehensive review on second-life batteries: Current state, manufacturing considerations, applications, impacts, barriers amp; potential solutions, business strategies, and policies," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 73215–73252, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2917859.
- [88] A. Saez-de-Ibarra, E. Martinez-Laserna, C. Koch-Ciobotaru, P. Rodriguez, D.-I. Stroe, and M. Swierczynski, "Second life battery energy storage system for residential demand response service," in 2015 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT), 2015, pp. 2941–2948. DOI: 10.1109/ICIT.2015.7125532.
- [89] M. Rasheed, M. Kamel, H. Wang, R. Zane, and K. Smith, "Investigation of active life balancing to recondition li-ion battery packs for 2jsup; ndj/sup; life," in 2020 IEEE 21st Workshop on Control and Modeling for Power Electronics (COMPEL), 2020, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/ COMPEL49091.2020.9265808.
- [90] A. Keeli and R. K. Sharma, "Optimal use of second life battery for peak load management and improving the life of the battery," in 2012 IEEE International Electric Vehicle Conference, 2012, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/IEVC.2012.6183276.
- [91] H. Chaoui, N. Golbon, I. Hmouz, R. Souissi, and S. Tahar, "Lyapunov-based adaptive state of charge and state of health estimation for lithium-ion batteries," eng, *IEEE transactions on industrial electronics (1982)*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 1610–1618, 2015, ISSN: 0278-0046.
- [92] W. Diao, J. Jiang, C. Zhang, H. Liang, and M. Pecht, "Energy state of health estimation for battery packs based on the degradation and inconsistency," *Energy Procedia*, vol. 142, pp. 3578–3583, 2017, Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Applied Energy, ISSN:

1876-6102. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2017.12.248. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1876610217359829.

- [93] A. Barré, B. Deguilhem, S. Grolleau, M. Gérard, F. Suard, and D. Riu, "A review on lithiumion battery ageing mechanisms and estimations for automotive applications," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 241, pp. 680–689, 2013, ISSN: 0378-7753. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpowsour.2013.05.040. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0378775313008185.
- [94] P. V. H. Seger, E. Coron, P.-X. Thivel, S. Genies, and D. Riu, "Modelling and robust control of a second life battery energy storage system," in 2021 IEEE International Conference on Environment and Electrical Engineering and 2021 IEEE Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Europe (EEEIC / I CPS Europe), 2021, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/EEEIC/ICPSEurope51590. 2021.9584477.
- [95] P. Ramadass, B. Haran, R. White, and B. N. Popov, "Mathematical modeling of the capacity fade of li-ion cells," *Journal of Power Sources*, vol. 123, no. 2, pp. 230-240, 2003, ISSN: 0378-7753. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7753(03)00531-7. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378775303005317.
- [96] P. Shen, M. Ouyang, L. Lu, J. Li, and X. Feng, "The co-estimation of state of charge, state of health, and state of function for lithium-ion batteries in electric vehicles," *IEEE Transactions* on Vehicular Technology, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 92–103, 2018. DOI: 10.1109/TVT.2017.2751613.
- U. Westerhoff, T. Kroker, K. Kurbach, and M. Kurrat, "Electrochemical impedance spectroscopy based estimation of the state of charge of lithium-ion batteries," *Journal of Energy Storage*, vol. 8, pp. 244-256, 2016, ISSN: 2352-152X. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.est. 2016.09.001. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352152X16301359.
- [98] J.-M. Timmermans, A. Nikolian, J. De Hoog, R. Gopalakrishnan, S. Goutam, N. Omar, T. Coosemans, J. Van Mierlo, A. Warnecke, D. U. Sauer, M. Swierczynski, D. I. Stroe, E. Martinez-Laserna, E. Sarasketa-Zabala, J. Gastelurrutia, and N. Nerea, "Batteries 2020 lithium-ion battery first and second life ageing, validated battery models, lifetime modelling and ageing assessment of thermal parameters," in 2016 18th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'16 ECCE Europe), 2016, pp. 1–23. DOI: 10.1109/EPE.2016.7695698.
- [99] E. Locorotondo, V. Cultrera, L. Pugi, L. Berzi, M. Pasquali, N. Andrenacci, G. Lutzemberger, and M. Pierini, "Electrical lithium battery performance model for second life applications," in 2020 IEEE International Conference on Environment and Electrical Engineering and 2020 IEEE Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Europe (EEEIC / I CPS Europe), 2020, pp. 1– 6. DOI: 10.1109/EEEIC/ICPSEurope49358.2020.9160496.
- [100] J. Sihvo, D.-I. Stroe, T. Messo, and T. Roinila, "Fast approach for battery impedance identification using pseudo-random sequence signals," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 2548–2557, 2020. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2019.2924286.

- [101] J. Sihvo, T. Messo, T. Roinila, R. Luhtala, and D. I. Stroe, "Online identification of internal impedance of li-ion battery cell using ternary-sequence injection," in 2018 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2018, pp. 2705–2711. DOI: 10.1109/ECCE.2018. 8558147.
- [102] R. Al Nazer, V. Cattin, P. Granjon, M. Montaru, and M. Ranieri, "Broadband identification of battery electrical impedance for hevs," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 62, no. 7, pp. 2896–2905, 2013. DOI: 10.1109/TVT.2013.2254140.
- [103] D.-I. Stroe, V. Knap, M. Swierczynski, and E. Schaltz, "Electrochemical impedance spectroscopybased electric circuit modeling of lithium-sulfur batteries during a discharging state," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 631–637, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/TIA. 2018.2864160.
- [104] M. Koseoglou, E. Tsioumas, D. Papagiannis, N. Jabbour, and C. Mademlis, "A novel on-board electrochemical impedance spectroscopy system for real-time battery impedance estimation," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 10776–10787, 2021. DOI: 10.1109/ TPEL.2021.3063506.
- [105] E. Locorotondo, V. Cultrera, L. Pugi, L. Berzi, M. Pasquali, N. Andrenacci, G. Lutzemberger, and M. Pierini, "Impedance spectroscopy characterization of lithium batteries with different ages in second life application," in 2020 IEEE International Conference on Environment and Electrical Engineering and 2020 IEEE Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Europe (EEEIC / I CPS Europe), 2020, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/EEEIC/ICPSEurope49358. 2020.9160616.
- [106] D. I. Stroe, M. Swierczynski, A. I. Stan, V. Knap, R. Teodorescu, and S. J. Andreasen, "Diagnosis of lithium-ion batteries state-of-health based on electrochemical impedance spectroscopy technique," in 2014 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2014, pp. 4576– 4582. DOI: 10.1109/ECCE.2014.6954027.
- [107] A. Y. Kallel, V. Petrychenko, and O. Kanoun, "State-of-health of li-ion battery estimation based on the efficiency of the charge transfer extracted from impedance spectra," *Applied Sciences*, vol. 12, no. 2, 2022, ISSN: 2076-3417. DOI: 10.3390/app12020885. [Online]. Available: https: //www.mdpi.com/2076-3417/12/2/885.
- [108] D. Kehl, T. Jennert, F. Lienesch, and M. Kurrat, "Electrical characterization of li-ion battery modules for second-life applications," *Batteries*, vol. 7, no. 2, 2021, ISSN: 2313-0105. DOI: 10. 3390/batteries7020032. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2313-0105/7/2/32.
- [109] R. Nazer, V. Cattin, P. Granjon, and M. Montaru, "A new optimization algorithm for a li-ion battery equivalent electrical circuit identification," Jun. 2012.
- [110] C. Liu, N. Gao, X. Cai, and R. Li, "Differentiation power control of modules in second-life battery energy storage system based on cascaded h-bridge converter," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 6609–6624, 2020. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2019.2954577.
- [111] H. Ji, W. Zhang, X.-H. Pan, M. Hua, Y.-H. Chung, C.-M. Shu, and L.-J. Zhang, "State of health prediction model based on internal resistance," *International Journal of Energy Research*,

vol. 44, no. 8, pp. 6502-6510, 2020. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/er.5383. eprint: https: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/er.5383. [Online]. Available: https: //onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/er.5383.

- [112] Infineon. (2022). "Fs50r12kt4_b15," [Online]. Available: https://www.infineon.com/cms/en/ product/power/igbt/igbt-modules/fs50r12kt4_b15/ (visited on 05/29/2022).
- H. Wang, Y. Yang, and F. Blaabjerg, "Reliability-oriented design and analysis of input capacitors in single-phase transformer-less photovoltaic inverters," in 2013 Twenty-Eighth Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2013, pp. 2929–2933.
 DOI: 10.1109/APEC.2013.6520714.
- [114] R. N. Beres, X. Wang, M. Liserre, F. Blaabjerg, and C. L. Bak, "A review of passive power filters for three-phase grid-connected voltage-source converters," *IEEE Journal of Emerging* and Selected Topics in Power Electronics, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 54–69, 2016. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE. 2015.2507203.
- [115] Sine wave filters fn5040/fn5045, SCHAFFNER, Oct. 2019.
- [116] H. Mosskull, "Some issues on stabilization of an induction machine drive," in 2004 43rd IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC) (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37601), vol. 4, 2004, 4441– 4446 Vol.4. DOI: 10.1109/CDC.2004.1429450.
- [117] M. Pastor and D. Jaroslav, "Design of output lcl filter for 15-level cascade inverter," *Electronics and Electrical Engineering*, vol. 19, Oct. 2013. DOI: 10.5755/j01.eee.19.8.5394.
- [118] T. Lahlou, M. Abdelrahem, S. Valdes, and H.-G. Herzog, "Filter design for grid-connected multilevel chb inverter for battery energy storage systems," in 2016 International Symposium on Power Electronics, Electrical Drives, Automation and Motion (SPEEDAM), 2016, pp. 831– 836. DOI: 10.1109/SPEEDAM.2016.7525972.
- [119] A. Reznik, M. G. Simões, A. Al-Durra, and S. M. Muyeen, "Filter design and performance analysis for grid-interconnected systems," *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 1225–1232, 2014. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2013.2274612.
- [120] Z. Alaas, C. Wang, C. Jiang, C. Duan, and J. Chen, "Improved cascaded multilevel battery inverters with phase-to-phase soc balancing capability," in 2017 IEEE Transportation Electrification Conference and Expo (ITEC), 2017, pp. 323–327. DOI: 10.1109/ITEC.2017.7993292.
- [121] G. Shi, Y. Sun, W. Yuan, H. Han, M. Su, and X. Hou, "A decentralized soc balancing method in cascaded h-bridge based storage modules," in 2017 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2017, pp. 1000–1003. DOI: 10.1109/ECCE.2017.8095895.
- [122] H. Wang, Z. Wu, G. Shi, and Z. Liu, "Soc balancing method for hybrid energy storage system in microgrid," in 2019 IEEE 3rd International Conference on Green Energy and Applications (ICGEA), 2019, pp. 141–145. DOI: 10.1109/ICGEA.2019.8880766.
- [123] J. Yu, G. Zhang, M. Peng, D. Song, and M. Liu, "Power-matching based soc balancing method for cascaded h-bridge multilevel inverter," CPSS Transactions on Power Electronics and Applications, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 352–363, 2020. DOI: 10.24295/CPSSTPEA.2020.00029.

- [124] L. Bede, G. Gohil, T. Kerekes, M. Ciobotaru, R. Teodorescu, and V. G. Agelidis, "Comparison between grid side and inverter side current control for parallel interleaved grid connected converters," in 2015 17th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'15 ECCE-Europe), 2015, pp. 1–10. DOI: 10.1109/EPE.2015.7311745.
- [125] H. Akagi, E. H. Watanabe, and M. Aredes, "The instantaneous power theory," in *Instantaneous Power Theory and Applications to Power Conditioning*. John Wiley and Sons, Ltd, 2017, ch. 3, pp. 37-109, ISBN: 9781119307181. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119307181.ch3. eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/9781119307181.ch3. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781119307181.ch3.
- P. Loh, "Proportional-resonant controllers and filters for grid-connected voltage-source converters," English, *IEE Proceedings Electric Power Applications*, vol. 153, 750-762(12), 5 Sep. 2006, ISSN: 1350-2352. [Online]. Available: https://digital-library.theiet.org/content/journals/10.1049/ip-epa_20060008.
- M. Parvez, M. F. M. Elias, and N. A. Rahim, "Performance analysis of pr current controller for single-phase inverters," in 4th IET Clean Energy and Technology Conference (CEAT 2016), 2016, pp. 1–8. DOI: 10.1049/cp.2016.1311.
- [128] P. Hu, Z. He, S. Li, and J. M. Guerrero, "Non-ideal proportional resonant control for modular multilevel converters under sub-module fault conditions," *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 1741–1750, 2019. DOI: 10.1109/TEC.2019.2938395.
- [129] H. Nazifi and A. Radan, "Current control assisted and non-ideal proportional-resonant voltage controller for four-leg three-phase inverters with time-variant loads," in 4th Annual International Power Electronics, Drive Systems and Technologies Conference, 2013, pp. 355–360. DOI: 10.1109/PEDSTC.2013.6506732.
- [130] A. Sangwongwanich, A. Abdelhakim, Y. Yang, and K. Zhou, "Chapter 6 control of single-phase and three-phase dc/ac converters," in *Control of Power Electronic Converters and Systems*, F. Blaabjerg, Ed., Academic Press, 2018, pp. 153–173, ISBN: 978-0-12-805245-7. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805245-7.00006-8. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128052457000068.
- [131] A. G. Yepes, F. D. Freijedo, J. Doval-Gandoy, Ó. López, J. Malvar, and P. Fernandez-Comesaña, "Effects of discretization methods on the performance of resonant controllers," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1692–1712, 2010. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2010.
 2041256.
- [132] J. C. Vasquez, J. M. Guerrero, M. Savaghebi, J. Eloy-Garcia, and R. Teodorescu, "Modeling, analysis, and design of stationary-reference-frame droop-controlled parallel three-phase voltage source inverters," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1271–1280, 2013. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2012.2194951.
- [133] S. Golestan, M. Monfared, F. D. Freijedo, and J. M. Guerrero, "Design and tuning of a modified power-based pll for single-phase grid-connected power conditioning systems," *IEEE Transac*-

tions on Power Electronics, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 3639–3650, 2012. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2012. 2183894.

- [134] Technical regulation 3.3.1 for battery plants, Rev. 2, No. 3.3.1, Energinet, Dec. 2019.
- [135] —, "Dynamics assessment of advanced single-phase pll structures," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 2167–2177, 2013. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2012.2193863.
- [136] F. Xiao, L. Dong, L. Li, and X. Liao, "A frequency-fixed sogi-based pll for single-phase gridconnected converters," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 1713–1719, 2017. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2606623.
- [137] N. Mukherjee and D. Strickland, "Control of second-life hybrid battery energy storage system based on modular boost-multilevel buck converter," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 1034–1046, 2015. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2014.2341598.
- [138] A. S. Gadalla, X. Yan, and H. Hasabelrasul, "State-of-charge balancing control strategy for battery energy storage systems based on a modern cascaded multilevel pwm converter," in 2018 IEEE 12th International Conference on Compatibility, Power Electronics and Power Engineering (CPE-POWERENG 2018), 2018, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/CPE.2018.8372534.
- H. Liang, L. Guo, J. Song, Y. Yang, W. Zhang, and H. Qi, "State-of-charge balancing control of a modular multilevel converter with an integrated battery energy storage," *Energies*, vol. 11, no. 4, 2018, ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/en11040873. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/11/4/873.
- [140] L. Canals Casals, M. Barbero, and C. Corchero, "Reused second life batteries for aggregated demand response services," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 212, pp. 99–108, 2019, ISSN: 0959-6526. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.12.005. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652618337077.
- [141] K. Tajeddine, R. Abdelhadi, B. Omar, and O. Hassan, "A cascaded h-bridge multilevel inverter with soc battery balancing," *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, vol. 8, no. 12, 2017. DOI: 10.14569/IJACSA.2017.081245. [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.14569/IJACSA.2017.081245.
- [142] J. Yu, G. Zhang, M. Peng, D. Song, and M. Liu, "Power-matching based soc balancing method for cascaded h-bridge multilevel inverter," CPSS Transactions on Power Electronics and Applications, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 352–363, 2020. DOI: 10.24295/CPSSTPEA.2020.00029.
- [143] J. Jiang, W. Shi, J. Zheng, P. Zuo, J. Xiao, X. Chen, W. Xu, and J.-G. Zhang, "Optimized operating range for large-format LiFePO/graphite batteries," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 161, no. 3, A336–A341, Dec. 2013. DOI: 10.1149/2.052403jes. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1149/2.052403jes.
- [144] E. V. Database. (2022). "Bmw i3 120 ah," [Online]. Available: https://ev-database.org/ car/1145/BMW-i3-120-Ah (visited on 05/31/2022).
- [145] X. Lu, K. Sun, J. M. Guerrero, J. C. Vasquez, and L. Huang, "State-of-charge balance using adaptive droop control for distributed energy storage systems in dc microgrid applications,"

IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 61, no. 6, pp. 2804–2815, 2014. DOI: 10. 1109/TIE.2013.2279374.

- [146] G. Liang, E. R. Rodriguez, G. G. Farivar, S. Ceballos, C. D. Townsend, N. B. Y. Gorla, and J. Pou, "A constrained inter-submodule state-of-charge balancing method for battery energy storage systems based on the cascaded h-bridge converter," *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, pp. 1–1, 2022. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2022.3170062.
- [147] Xilinx. (2022). "Vivado," [Online]. Available: https://www.xilinx.com/products/designtools/vivado.html (visited on 05/29/2022).
- [148] Infineon. (2022). "1ed020i12-f2," [Online]. Available: https://www.infineon.com/cms/en/ product/power/gate-driver-ics/1ed020i12-f2/ (visited on 05/29/2022).
- [149] —, (2022). "Calculate and minimize the dead time for igbts." version AN2007-04, [Online]. Available: https://www.infineon.com/dgdl/Infineon-Deadtime_calculation_for_IGBT_ modules-ApplicationNotes-v01_00-EN.pdf?fileId=db3a30431a5c32f2011a5daefc41005b (visited on 05/29/2022).
- [150] S. Prakash, J. K. Singh, R. K. Behera, and A. Mondal, "Comprehensive analysis of sogi-pll based algorithms for single-phase system," in 2019 National Power Electronics Conference (NPEC), 2019, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/NPEC47332.2019.9034724.

Appendix A

DC Side Filter Increasing

The inverter utilized in the present project is incorporated on a printed circuit board (PCB). The purpose of the PCB is to test the connection of PV systems to a three phase grid. Therefore, the input DC side filter was designed for an specific DC voltage and rated power. As the system in this projects works with lower DC voltage and power, the size of the capacitors needed to be increased. As explained in 3, the DC side capacitor values is calculated as follows, repeated here for the sake of completeness:

$$\Delta V_c = \frac{P_{out}}{C_{dc} \cdot \omega \cdot V_c} \tag{A.1}$$

The PCB has a DC capacitor tank of 680 μ F, i.e. 2.5 times less than needed. Therefore, it was chosen to replicate three times the capacitor tank, as illustrated in Fig. A.1.



Figure A.1: Laboratory - Capacitor tank implemented

The description of the real topology is shown in Fig. A.2.



Figure A.2: Laboratory - PCB and Capacitor tank implemented

An experiment is carried out in the laboratory to verify the performance of the capacitor tank calculated and implemented. In the experiments, the voltage in the capacitor is 50 V, the power delivered 90 W and the frequency of the output power 50 Hz. Substituting these values in (A.1), yields to a voltage ripple in the capacitors of 8.4 V for the original system and of 2.8V for the modified system, as can be seen in Fig. A.3.



Figure A.3: Laboratory - Capacitor ripple measured in the original and the modified system

Appendix B

FPGA Programming

This appendix explains why and how the FPGA program is made in dSpace. The triangular waveforms are made in dSpace and then fed into the FPGA built. The signal flow is shown in Fig. B.1.



Figure B.1: Modulation signals and carriers are made in Simulink. Comparison and dead-time are made in the FPGA. Signals are provided to the H-Bridge

At first, it was considered to use a default block existing in the dSpace library called "MCU Motor Blockset". This block takes as input three modulation signals (duty cycles), and output the signals to the CHB. As there is not a comparison between carriers and modulation signal, the modulation signals need to be phase-shift with each other. The main problem is that, in case of an event or an immediate action on the system, the phase-shifted signals will not take simultaneously, but with a time lag, as illustrated in Fig. B.2.



Figure B.2: Modulation signals provided to the default dSpace Blockset are not optimum. The phase-shift between can cause unstable operation

The FPGA is programmed with the software Xilinx Vivado R [147]. One of the advantages of utilizing a real comparison between carriers and modulation signals is that it can have instantaneously effect in all the H-Bridges in the system almost simultaneously. The second advantage is that the step size in the FPGA is of 10 ns, compared to the maximum 40 μ s that is, 4000 times smaller, achieving higher performance.

The triangular waveforms and the modulation signals are generated in the dSpace and the signals are then compared in the FPGA. The inverter utilized in this project has a minimum turn-on delay time of 0.13 μ s and a maximum turn-off delay time of 0.4 μ s. Moreover, the gate driver in the PCB should be taken into account, which is the 1ED020I12 - F2 from infineon [148]. The minimum rise time is 0.01 μ s and the maximum rise time in the gate driver is delay is of 0.80 μ s. Therefore, the total The dead-time should be high enough in order not to short-circuit the DC-link capacitor. It is recommended in [149] that the dead-time should be calculated with (B.1):

$$t_{dead} = n_s \cdot \left[(t_{d_off_max} - t_{d_on_min}) + (t_{pdd_max} - t_{pdd_min}) \right]$$
(B.1)

In which n_s is a safety margin. They suggest that $n_s = 1.2$, whereas in this work $n_s = 1.4$ to increase the safety margin. Then, substituting the values in (B.1):

$$t_{dead} = 1.4 \cdot \left[(0.4 - 0.13) - (0.80 - 0.01) \right] \approx 1.3 \ \mu s \tag{B.2}$$

Therefore, it is equal to counting 130 steps of 10 ns. The dead-time is implemented in the FPGA by utilizing logical blocks, i.e. and, not, or, etc. The The block diagram for the comparison with the triangular and the generation of the complementary signal for each H-Bridge including the dead-time is shown in Fig. B.3.



Figure B.3: Block diagram of the implemented FPGA comparison and dead-time.

The logical waveforms of the dead-time block are shown in Fig. B.4.



Figure B.4: Block diagram with logical waveforms producing the dead-time in the gate signals.

After installing the software and licenses for Xilinx Vivado, the FPGA programming is made in the following steps:

- 1. Open a new '.slx' Simulink model. First, the step size for the system needs to be set. In this work, the step is 10 ns. Then, the library Xilinx Blockset needs to be used to drag the blocks into the model. It should be noted that each block will provide a unitary delay to the input signal, i.e. a discrete delay z^{-1} .
- 2. It is possible to debug the system as a normal Simulink model, y running the system and checking the signals with normal 'Scopes'. The FPGA will have inputs from the dSpace and Outputs to the H-Bridges, as illustrated in Fig. B.1.
- 3. Once the model is built and debugged, the system needs to be built. The system creates a folder in the working space with a '.ini' file, which contains the FPGA programmed. It is no longer possible to edit this file.
- 4. The '.ini' file is imported to dSpace into the main control Simulink model, in the highest layer of the model. Typically, the control system is placed inside a triggered subsystem. The FPGA imported file needs to be placed outside of this loop.
- 5. The Simulink model with the control system is built as normal with the Simulink C-Code plugin.

Appendix C

SOGI PLL Analysis

The phase-locked-loop (PLL) utilized in this project is shown in Fig. C.1, which is a fixed frequency second-order generalized integrator (FFSOGI).



Figure C.1: Block diagram of a conventional FFSOGI-PLL

As the PLL described is two be used in a single-phase system, a quadrature signal generator (QSG) creates a voltage signal which is $\pi/2$ rad lagging the input signal. The transfer function from V_{α}/V_g , i.e. the ratio between the generated signal and the to be tracked (V_g); and the transfer function between V_{β}/V_g , i.e. the quadrature signal and the signal to be tracked, are shown in (C.1) and (C.2), respectively:

$$G_{\alpha}(s) = \frac{V_{\alpha}(s)}{V_g(s)} = \frac{k\omega s}{s^2 + k\omega s + \omega^2}$$
(C.1)

$$G_{\beta}(s) = \frac{V_{\beta}(s)}{V_g(s)} = \frac{k\omega^2}{s^2 + k\omega s + \omega^2}$$
(C.2)

Being k the damping factor for the error in the estimated signal (V_{α}) and the real signal (V_g) , and ω the fundamental frequency of the real signal. The bode plot for both transfer functions are shown in Fig C.2.


Figure C.2: Bode plot of the QSG transfer functions.

As can be seen, the resonant frequency appears at 50 Hz. The damping factor k is related to the bandwidth and the filtering effect; lower values of k results in higher filtering but higher response times [150]. In Fig. C.2 it can be seen that the gain is reduced in the case of k = 1 compared to the one with k = 2 and the bandwidth is reduced from 63.6 Hz to 32.11 Hz. On the other hand, the time response against an impulse to G_{α} is smaller with higher values of k as shown in Fig. C.3.



Figure C.3: Impulse response in the quadrature signal generation G_{α} transfer function

The open- and closed-loop transfer function are shown in (C.3) and (C.5), respectively.

$$G_{OL}(s) = \frac{\theta(s)}{\theta^*(s)} = \frac{K_p s + K_i}{s^2} \frac{1}{\tau_p s + 1}$$
(C.3)

Being $tau_p = 2/k\omega[135]$. Typically, the phase margin (PM) of the open-loop transfer function is recommended to be 30° < PM < 60° , which yields a value for the damping factor k as in (C.4) [133]:

$$1.732 < k < 3.732 \tag{C.4}$$

In this work, k = 2 resulted in a stable operation. Once the stability of the system is established, the transient response performance needs to be designed, i.e. the PI parameter tuning.

$$G_{CL}(s) = \frac{1}{1 + G_{OL}(s)}$$
(C.5)

Therefore, by utilizing the second-order system classic parameters

$$\zeta = \frac{K_p}{2\sqrt{K_i}} \tag{C.6}$$

$$\omega_n = \sqrt{K_i} \tag{C.7}$$

In which the damping ratio ζ is selected to be $\zeta = 1/\sqrt{2}$ as the most optimum value for voltage frequency and phase jump [133]; The natural frequency should be chosen to have good filtering and disturbance rejection, while having and acceptable transient performance, in this work $w_n = 5$ Hz. Then the PI parameters are tuned to be $K_i = 20$. The parameter $K_p = 6$ was adapted to be $K_p = 0.5$ in the discrete implementation. The results for voltage jump, frequency jump and phase jump are shown in Section 4.1.1.